Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Review

Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, Part A

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/cbpa



Measurement of flying and diving metabolic rate in wild animals: Review and recommendations*



Kyle H. Elliott

Department of Natural Resource Sciences, McGill University, Ste Anne-de-Bellevue, QC, Canada

A R T I C L E I N F O

ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 29 January 2016 Received in revised form 16 May 2016 Accepted 27 May 2016 Available online 3 June 2016 Animals' abilities to fly long distances and dive to profound depths fascinate earthbound researchers. Due to the difficulty of making direct measurements during flying and diving, many researchers resort to modeling so as to estimate metabolic rate during each of those activities in the wild, but those models can be inaccurate. Fortunately, the miniaturization, customization and commercialization of biologgers has allowed researchers to increasing-ly follow animals on their journeys, unravel some of their mysteries and test the accuracy of biomechanical models. I provide a review of the measurement of flying and diving metabolic rate in the wild, paying particular attention to mass loss, doubly-labelled water, heart rate and accelerometry. Biologgers can impact animal behavior and influence the very measurements they are designed to make, and I provide seven guidelines for the ethical use of biologgers. If biologgers are properly applied, quantification of metabolic rate across a range of species could produce robust allometric relationships that could then be generally applied. As measuring flying and diving multiple techniques in the field to reinforce one another may be a viable alternative. The coupling of multi-sensor biologgers with biomechanical modeling promises to improve precision in the measurement of flying and diving metabolic rate in wild animals.

© 2016 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	64						
	1.1. Biologging	65						
	1.2. Tag effects: the observer effect in wildlife biology	65						
2.	Measuring time budgets and applying activity-specific metabolic rates derived from captivity or modeling	66						
3.	Measuring diving and flying metabolic rate in the field	69						
	3.1. Mass loss	70						
	3.2. Isotopic enrichment including doubly-labelled water	70						
	3.3. Heart rate	71						
	3.4. Accelerometry	72						
	3.5. Diving and flying metabolic rate measurements in the field	72						
4.	Proxies for metabolism during flying and diving	73						
5.	Future recommendations	73						
Acknowledgments								
Refe	References							

* This contribution is part of a Special Issue entitled "Ecophysiology methods: refining the old, validating the new and developing for the future", a set of ten articles reviewing methodological developments to facilitate physiological studies in field situations or in non-invasive scenarios.

"Nothing is more difficult to study than what you cannot see." (Tremblay et al., 2009, citing Monod 1991).

1. Introduction

Animals fly over the Himalayas, dive thousands of meters beneath the sea and fly tens of thousands of kilometers around the globe. Given that scientists cannot directly follow animals on these journeys or replicate such extreme conditions in the laboratory, it is challenging to understand how they accomplish those feats. Although questions about such extraordinary accomplishments have perplexed ecophysiologists for decades, recent work has revealed some of the solutions to these mysteries.

This review summarizes existing techniques for measuring flying and diving metabolic rate under field conditions. Field physiology plays an important role because laboratory studies are not always transferable to the wild (Costa and Sinervo, 2004). Diving physiology provides a good example of the importance of field physiology as early lab studies using forcibly-constrained animals confounded the stress response and the dive response; the deep bradycardia of forcibly-submerged individuals is not representative of the shallow bradycardia typical of most dives.

Metabolic rate is, of course, a key physiological parameter during flying and diving. For instance, oxygen stores and oxygen consumption rate are two key parameters that constrain dive duration (Butler and Jones, 1997; Kooyman and Ponganis, 1998; Halsey et al., 2006). The goal of measuring oxygen consumption during diving has led to the development of novel techniques for measuring metabolic rate in the field (Nagy et al., 1984; Ponganis et al., 2009). Likewise, oxygen consumption limits the ability to fly at extremely high altitudes, and measuring flying metabolic rate helped unravel the mystery of high altitude flight (Bishop et al., 2015). Many studies have examined metabolic rate in captive insects, small mammals, ducks and marine mammals. I include only those studies that measured metabolic rate in the wild.

Research has focused on extreme physiology: those animals that dive the deepest, fly the highest or have the shortest wings. Understanding such extreme athletes not only satisfies an inherent human curiosity for 'record-holders', but also provides scenarios for the extreme constraints operating on flying and diving physiology. By measuring the extreme values, we can then interpolate the flying and diving physiology of all species. Many studies recorded incredible feats, such as common swifts (*Apus apus*) flying continuously for 200 days (Liechti et al., 2013), bar-tailed godwits (*Limosa lapponica*) flying 11,000 km nonstop (Gill et al., 2005), and Cuvier's beaked whales (*Ziphius cavirostris*) diving to almost 3000 m for over two hours (Schorr et al., 2014). Extreme behavioural feats are often accompanied by extreme changes in physiology, including dramatic remodeling of organ size. Birds sacrificed at either end of long migrations have shown large changes in organ size (Jehl, 1997; Biebach, 1998; Piersma and Gill, 1998). For instance, bar-tailed godwits (*Limosa lapponica*) leaving Alaska to fly non-stop to New Zealand have atrophied digestive organs, presumably an adaptation to reduce load (lean mass) and flying metabolic rate (Piersma and Gill, 1998). This review focuses on studies that have measured the underlying processes allowing extreme feats rather than those that merely document 'extreme' behavior.

A few decades ago, as noted in the opening quote referring to science completed aboard the first bathyscape, the physiology of animals at depth could only be guessed at based on experiments in shallow laboratory tanks or observations from large underwater vehicles. Recently, the miniaturization of electronic recorders has allowed researchers to follow animals on their adventures and 'see' what is happening in even the most extreme environments. Classic experiments at dive holes in Antarctica, where penguins and seals could dive naturally and yet be recaptured and electronic recorders easily retrieved, revealed dramatically altered physiology during deep diving compared with shallow diving (Kooyman et al., 1971). Similar measurements on elephant seals showed they were able to sustain exceptionally deep dives aerobically by lowering metabolic rate, at times reducing heart rate as low as three beats per minute (Andrews et al., 1997). Likewise, recent experiments with bar-headed geese (Anser indicus) migrating over the Himalayas (Bishop et al., 2015), thick-billed murres (Uria lomvia) flying long distances with wings optimized for underwater propulsion (Elliott et al., 2013a) and northern bald ibises (Geronticus eremita) migrating in flock formation (Portugal et al., 2014) have revealed the physiological capabilities of flying birds. A unifying principle behind these measurements is the Krogh principle that there will be some animal of choice on which a biological problem can be most conveniently studied. For the study of the physiology of flying and diving, the animals that satisfy the Krogh principle are large-bodied species able to carry large recorders that can be easily retrieved because the individuals cannot escape from researchers (penguins, Weddell seals at isolated holes), are trained to follow an ultralight (ibises), are displaced so that they return to a known haulout (elephant seals) or can be easily recaptured (geese and murres).



Fig. 1. 'Murre's law' (a) The memory density of an instrument attached to a diving bird doubles every 2.1 years. With the exception of the 1981 datapoint presented for comparative purposes and which refers to a penguin, all points are for instruments attached to murres (Uria spp.) that are small diving seabirds and consequently strongly impacted by tag size. It is assumed that scientists studying murres are therefore placing strong demand on minimizing tag size. (b) The size of time-depth recorders attached to a diving bird halves every 5.5 years. The data are the same as for (b) except they include data only from time-depth recorders.

1.1. Biologging

Biologging plays an important role in the measurement of the physiology of flying and diving (Ropert-Coudert and Wilson, 2005; Burger and Shaffer, 2008; Wilson et al., 2015). The development of biologgers is driven by increasing memory density in commercial electronics. The number of transistors on an integrated circuit of a particular size doubles every two years ('Moore's law', Moore, 1965). Likewise, the memory per unit gram of a time-depth recorder attached to a small seabird-and therefore under continual demand for ever smaller recorders-has doubled every two years ('Murre's law', Fig. 1). The parallel slopes between Moore's law (doubling time of two years) and Murre's law (doubling time of 2.1 years, Fig. 1a) illustrate that the miniaturization of animal-borne recorders has been a consequence of the demand for smaller and faster portable electronic equipment. Indeed, the time between the application of an instrument to a marine mammal and its application to a flying, diving bird is typically ~13 years (e.g. 1975 vs. 1988 for a time-depth recorder lasting days (Kooyman, 2004; Croll et al., 1992), 1992 vs. 2005 for an animal-borne camera (Kooyman, 2004; Watanuki et al., 2008)). The time-depth recorder was first used over 50 years ago, but did not become widely available until the first commercial companies focused on wildlife biologists began in the 1980s. It is the customization and commercialization of biologgers, especially tiny sensors, which drives forward the field of flying and diving field physiology (Andrews, 1998; Kooyman, 2004; Grémillet, 2015).

The creation of ever smaller and more sophisticated biologgers provides the opportunity to make measurements on small animals that do not satisfy the Krogh principle. If we assume that Moore's law holds for another 50 years, then by 2065 we will have a 1 g electronic recorder with 18.5 GB of flash memory-enough to collect a 35 kB photo every minute for a year. By that point, according to Fig. 1b, a conventional time-depth recorder will weigh only 2 mg. There are indications that the speed of miniaturization of electronic equipment will slow down by 2020 (Waldrop, 2016)-but past predictions of the demise of Moore's law have been premature (Kish, 2002). The parallelism between Moore's law and trends in biologging equipment demonstrates that increased energy efficiency of electronics, not improved battery power, drives trends. Of course, many applications require active sensors, such as a GPS antennae, camera shutter or antennae for remote downloading, which increase power use and constrain miniaturization because battery power efficiency has not improved as rapidly as memory capacity. Furthermore, processor speed has not increased in the past decade due to thermal constraints (Waldrop, 2016), meaning that there is unlikely to be improvement in the ability



Fig. 2. Summary of all studies that have examined energy expenditure in tagged and untagged individuals. Proportion of studies with a particular effect size (untagged – tagged) / (pooled SD) is shown. Column plots are actual study results. Five out of six studies of locomotory costs were significant at the sequential Bonferroni-corrected alpha value of 0.017, but none of the 13 studies of daily energy expenditure were significant at the sequential Bonferroni-corrected alpha value of 0.004. Line plots show estimated distributions for all studies. All data are from Table 1 in Elliott et al. (2014a).

to process accelerometer and heart rate data on-board tags (which would have reduced space needs and facilitated remote transfer of processed data). Tag size has decreased more slowly over time than memory density (Fig. 1b) as scientists have chosen more data over tag miniaturization—both of which are options afforded by Moore's law—and because battery size has not diminished greatly over the past 40 years.

1.2. Tag effects: the observer effect in wildlife biology

A basic principle in wildlife biology is that it is impossible to observe a wild animal without altering the very parameter that you are aiming to observe. Direct observation may alter heart rate, movement patterns and time budgets of wild animals, and animals may be aware of observers even if the observers attempt to remain hidden. It is a goal of the biologist to minimize such effects, but they can be present even if there is no statistically significant difference between observed and unobserved animals because other sources of variation overwhelm any signal.

Biologging provides a method for obtaining observations without direct observation and potential associated disturbance (Ropert-Coudert and Wilson, 2005). However, biologgers can cause altered time budgets, increased comfort behaviors (e.g. preening), increased mortality, reduced reproductive success and other impacts (Wilson et al., 1986; Barron et al. 2010; White et al., 2013). In some cases, those behaviors may be a consequence of handling stress, which can lead to mortality, nest abandonment, avoidance of capture location or increased wariness. In other cases, the tag itself can disrupt thermoregulation or increase locomotory costs via increased weight and drag.

Both handling and tag effects can influence the measurement of energy expenditure during flying and diving (Barron et al. 2010). Indeed, all six studies on the effect of tags on flying or diving metabolic rate documented higher metabolic rates for tagged than untagged animals, and five of those studies showed statistically significant differences despite an average sample size of only eight tagged individuals (Fig. 2). In contrast, daily energy expenditure does not vary between tagged and untagged individuals (Fig. 2) because tagged individuals spend less time in energetically expensive activities as limitations to energy intake prevent animals from expending more total energy (Elliott et al., 2014a).

Seven points summarize best practices for considering tag effects:

- (1) Acknowledge that all tags have some impact, even if that impact is hard to measure. Titles such as "Geolocators on golden-winged warblers do not affect migratory ecology" (Peterson et al., 2015) or "Radio-tags have no behavioral or physiological effects on a migratory songbird" (Gow et al., 2011) are misleading. Given the necessarily limited number of parameters examined and potential for Type II errors due to small sample sizes (N = 39 and 10 tagged individuals, respectively), it would be better to state that no effect was *measured*. Similarly, the absence of a tag effect on one parameter does not mean there is no overall effect; tags do not affect daily energy expenditure but strongly impact locomotory costs (Fig. 2). Some species pass costs onto their offspring or partners while others bear the costs themselves (Paredes et al. 2004; Fig. 2a in Elliott et al., 2014a), and measuring only one parameter will miss an important effect.
- (2) Distinguish the effect of handling from the effect of the tag.
- (3) Use stream-lined tags and place tags centred as far back as possible (Obrecht et al., 1988; Bannasch et al., 1994; Culik et al., 1994). Drag is more important than load, and placing the tag farther back reduces flow separation and turbulence. Although attaching tags to the leg or tail may reduce drag, such positioning can cause instability (Vandenabeele et al., 2014).
- (4) Implant tags because lower drag reduces impacts (White et al., 2013). However, extended restraint and anesthesia needed for

surgery can cause desertion or mortality (e.g. Meyers et al., 1998).

- (5) Use smaller tags. There is no minimum tag size where there is no effect; effects have been clearly documented below purported tag size limits of 5% or 3% of body mass (Vandenabeele et al., 2012; Elliott et al., 2007, 2012). Indeed, every study that has examined multiple tag sizes within a single study has found a larger effect associated with a larger tag size (e.g. Wilson et al., 1986; Bannasch et al., 1994; Ropert-Coudert et al., 2007; Elliott et al., 2007; Chivers et al., 2015). Statements to the contrary from meta-analyses (Barron et al., 2010) are likely due to confounding noise from interspecific variation. Smaller tags have fewer effects, but there is no critical threshold size.
- (6) Avoid young individuals. Older individuals, where current brood value is higher, mount a lower stress response to handling and are less likely to desert following tagging (Elliott et al., 2014a, 2014b).
- (7) No X% rule will be universal as tag effects are more pronounced on species with high locomotory costs (Vandenabeele et al., 2012; Elliott et al., 2014a). Other aspects than locomotory costs, such as sex or life history strategy, show no consistent effect (Barron et al., 2010; Elliott et al., 2014a).

2. Measuring time budgets and applying activity-specific metabolic rates derived from captivity or modeling

Prior to the biologging revolution, it was usually impossible to directly measure energy budgets during flying or diving in the wild. The only exception was when animals spent all of their time diving or flying when not at an easily observable location, such as a nest, and flying or diving metabolic rate could be estimated based on difference in mass or isotopic signature over the period of flying or diving (e.g. Lyuleeva, 1970). Otherwise, rather than being able to directly quantify energy budgets, authors quantified time budgets and calculated energy budgets using activity-specific metabolic rates estimated from biomechanical modeling or measured on captive animals flying in wind tunnels or swimming in dive tanks (e.g. Croll et al., 1991; Stanley, 2002). In contrast to running or swimming, allometry is not a particularly useful approach for flying and diving-there is much more variation from the body mass-energy cost regression in flyers or divers than runners or swimming fish (Schmidt-Nielsen, 1972). Diverse uses of biomechanical models included inferring if extinct animals could fly (Speakman, 1993), estimating the minimum distance between stop over sites for migrating birds (Hedenström, 2002), documenting the influence of altered wind patterns on migration (Liechti, 2006), quantifying the cost of removing fecal sacs from the nest (Guigueno and Sealy, 2012), supporting the idea that mass loss is adaptive not stress-related (Croll et al., 1991; Elliott et al., 2008), delineating marine protected areas for an endangered diving duck (Lovvorn et al., 2009), approximating how much energy it takes to construct a nest (Stanley, 2002), and demonstrating a limit to body size in whales (Goldbogen et al., 2012). I argue that such models are often inaccurate, meaning that much of the research based on the models is suspect.

For flying birds, the Pennycuick model (Pennycuick, 1975, 1989, 2008), a model for flying metabolic rate requiring only the input of body mass and wingspan, is by far the most widely used model by ecologists (e.g. cited well over 1000 times as of December 2015, including 90 times in 2015 alone). However, measured flying metabolic rate is typically two to three times higher than flying metabolic rate estimated from the Pennycuick model for small birds and varies by \pm 30% for large birds (Fig. 3a; see also McWilliams et al., 2004, Videler, 2006). After accounting for variation with body mass, the Pennycuick model explains less than 30% of residual variation in metabolic rate (Fig. 3b). Although there are issues with biomechanical modeling (e.g. estimating the drag coefficient and profile power for a live bird), the Pennycuick and related models usually provide relatively good approximations of biomechanical costs (Dial et al., 1997; Rayner, 1999; Tobalske et al., 2003). The main problem is the conversion of biomechanical work into oxygen consumption (Rayner, 1999; McWilliams et al., 2004). Given that only ~20% of chemical energy obtained by the animal is transferred into biomechanical work, what happens in the transfer is as or more important than the biomechanics. The constant value usually assumed by modeling ignores what is likely substantial variation in muscle efficiency with speed and body mass (Rayner, 1999; Pennycuick, 2008). The Pennycuick model



Fig. 3. (a) Measured flying metabolic rate (in a wind tunnel or in the field) relative to modeled flying metabolic rate, assuming flight at maximum range speed, as estimated from the Pennycuick model. The solid line represents the 1:1 relationship showing that the Pennycuick model underestimates flying metabolic rate for small birds and overestimates flying metabolic rate for large birds. (b) The same relationship after accounting for body mass by dividing each value by the predicted value based on the allometric (best fit power law) relationship, with a separate relationship calculated for both modeled and measured metabolic rates. Open symbols are from birds flying in the wild (primarily measured via doubly-labelled water or heart rate) and closed symbols are birds flying in captivity (primarily via respirometry or mass loss). All values are archived with Elliott et al. (2013b).

Table 1

Studies that have measured flying and diving metabolic rate in the wild. Although many studies of captive insects, reptiles, small mammals and ducks may be realistic of field conditions, I only included studies occurring in the wild. Similarly, I only included studies that directly measured metabolic rate and excluded those studies that measured behaviour or kinematics or that estimated metabolic rate via biomechanical modeling. I also only include heart rate data for homeotherms because of complications in measuring energy expenditure from heart rate in non-homeotherms (Green, 2011). R = Respirometry; ML = Mass loss; DLW = doubly-labelled water; BE = bicarbonate enrichment; ACC = accelerometry; PPO = partial pressure of oxygen recorder; DEE = daily energy expenditure.

Species	Method	Results	Source
<i>Flyers</i> Various songbird species	ML	Flying metabolic rate estimated based on mass loss of birds over known migrating routes. These studies used various assumptions (see Videler, 2006), such that all birds started at the same time. If birds arriving later started migrating later, then flying metabolic rate would be underestimated. Because such estimates are quite variable, and in some cases substantially underestimate	e.g. Nisbet et al., 1963; Hussell, 1969; Hussell and Lambert, 1980
Northern house martin Delichon urbanica; Barn swallow Hirundo rustica; common swift Apus apus	ML	flying metabolic rate for the same or similar species compared to wind tunnel studies, I consider these values unreliable for the purpose of this review. Flying metabolic rate estimated based on mass loss of birds, and assuming all time was spent in the air. Bills were sewn shut to prevent foraging.	Lyuleeva (1970)
Pine siskin Carduelis pinus; chaffinch Fringilla coelebs; brambling Fringilla montifringilla; bullfach Purchula purchula	ML	Flying metabolic rate estimated based on mass loss of birds migrating for about one hour along a spit.	Dolnik and Gavrilov (1973)
Bar-tailed godwit <i>Limosa lapponica</i>	ML	Mass lost over a non-stop migration from Africa to Europe. Percent of mass loss due to loss of lipids estimated from dead birds.	Lindström and Piersma (1993)
Six species of bats	ML	Bats lived in an indoor greenhouse and the only available roost was attached to an electronic balance, allowing measurement of body mass before and after each flight. Feeder visits (volume of nectar consumed) was also measured to account for mass gain due to food.	Winter and Von Helversen (1998)
Rock pigeon Columba livia	DLW	Birds were displaced 300 miles and flew back to their loft, allowing estimation of flying metabolic rate from regression of energy expended on flight time.	LeFebvre (1964)
Purple martin Progne subis	DLW	Moved birds 100 km away and recaught them upon return to the colony. Assumed a constant value of 1.8 times standard metabolic rate after recapture and prior to final blood sample. Flying metabolic rates were 4.8 to 6.1 standard metabolic rate, lower than previous estimates for birds.	Utter and LeFebvre (1970)
Barn Swallow Hirundo rustica; Northern house martin Delichon urbanica	DLW	DEE measured while recording total time at nest (assumed no resting away from nest). By assuming that metabolic rate at nest is the same as resting metabolic rate, flying metabolic rate for hirudines was	Hails (1979)
Wandering albatross Diomedea exulans	DLW	Invert than other passennes. Flying metabolic rate estimated as 2.35 times basal metabolic rate for albatrosses at Prince Edward Islands	Adams et al. (1986)
Grey-headed albatross Diomedea chrysostoma	DLW	Flying metabolic rate estimated assuming a constant metabolic rate when on land or resting at sea. Bevan et al., 1995 critique this approach as resting on water is more costly that resting on land	Costa and Prince (1987)
Wilson's storm-petrel Oceanites oceanicus	DLW	Flying metabolic rate estimated from regression of DEE on time spent away from colony, as storm-petrels almost always fly continuously away from the colony.	Obst et al. (1987)
Laysan albatross Phoebastria immutabilis	DLW	Flying metabolic rate was 2.6 times incubation metabolic rate, assuming that the metabolic rate of birds resting on the water was similar to flying metabolic rate.	Pettit et al. (1988)
Northern gannet Morus bassanus	DLW	Flying metabolic rate (97 W) estimated from regression of DEE on time spent flying, Because the intercept could "hide" some of the variance associated with the slope (flying metabolic rate), Wilson and Culik (1993) reanalyzed the data using a multivariate regression on three activities and determined flying metabolic rate of 88 W	Birt-Friesen et al. (1989)
Southern giant-petrel	DLW	Flying metabolic rate estimated from regression of DEE on time spent at sea, and assuming that all time spent at sea was spent flying.	Obst and Nagy (1992)
Northern fulmar Fulmarus glacialis	DLW	Flying metabolic rate estimated at 4.5 times basal metabolic rate, assuming all time spent at sea was spent flying. DEE at sea and wingbeat frequency declined with wind speed.	Furness and Bryant (1996)
Sooty tern Onychoprion fuscatus	DLW	Flying metabolic rate (slope of the regression of DEE on percent time flying) was 4.8 times standard metabolic rate, which was low considering terns used primarily flapping flight.	Flint and Nagy (1984)
Red-footed booby Sula sula	DLW	DEE measured while recording time at nest, time on water and time flying. Flying metabolic rate estimated while assuming metabolic rate on water and on nest was equal to resting metabolic rate. Flying metabolic rate was lower than predicted by the Pennycuick model, possibly because energy required for lift was provided by high levels of wind at sea	Ballance (1995)
Wandering albatross Diomedea exulans	DLW	Percent of time flying was not related to DEE for albatrosses at South Georgia, implying that flying metabolic rate was low.	Arnould et al. (1996)
Black-legged kittiwake Rissa tridactyla	DLW	Flying metabolic rate estimated at 6.2–7.3 times basal metabolic rate. Flying metabolic rate during plunge diving estimated at 47 times basal metabolic rate.	Jodice et al. (2003)
Swainson's thrush	DLW	Flying metabolic rate estimated from regression of DEE on time spent flying. Because much more time was spent foraging and resting during migration than flying, time spent at stop overs was more important to DEE than time spent flying.	Wikelski et al. (2003)
Black-browed albatross Diomedea melanophrys	DLW	Estimated flying metabolic rate assuming metabolic rates while resting on the water were those given by Bevan et al. (1997).	Shaffer et al. (2004)
Ring-billed gull Larus delawarensis	DLW	Mass-specific DEE was negatively associated with nest attendance but was not associated with time spent flying.	Marteinson et al. (2015)
Bonda and Sinaloan mastiff bats Molossus	BE	Flying metabolic rate of 3.0 W (<i>currentium</i>) and 3.3 W (<i>sinaloae</i>) for bats flying	Voigt and Holderied (2012)

Species	Method	Results	Source
currentium, Molossus sinaloae		in a confined space (120 m ²) under semi-captive conditions in the Costa Rican	
		rainforest was ~20 times resting metabolism. High flying metabolic rate may be	
Black-browed albatross Diomedea melanophrys	HR	Used a calibration equation developed on captive, walking albatrosses to	Bevan et al. (1997)
		estimate DEE in the wild. Flying metabolic rate was half those estimated by	
		earlier DLW studies because resting metabolism was higher than assumed in earlier studies.	
Barnacle goose Branta leucopsis	HR	Heart rate declined during migration from 317 to 226 beats min ⁻¹ , which they	Butler et al. (1998)
		estimated as equivalent to 300 W at the start of migration. Later studies would	
		captive calibrations, implying different heart rate-oxygen consumption	
		calibrations in the wild vs. captivity.	
Swainson's thrush	HK	Flying metabolic rate was higher for individuals with rounded wings and higher wing loading and during windy periods. Because no heart rate-oxygen	Bowlin and Wikelski (2008)
		consumption rate calibration was available, flying metabolic rate was not	
	UD	estimated quantitatively.	
Spotted antbird Hylophylax naevioides	HK	Used a calibration equation developed on the same individuals in captivity to estimate metabolic rate in the wild. Low metabolic rate was associated with	Steiger et al. (2009)
		little time spent flying.	
Velvety free-tailed bat Molossus molossus	HR	Used a calibration equation developed on most of the same individuals at rest to	Dechmann et al. (2011)
		flight was equivalent to 0.28 W although the authors do not report that value as	
		calibration occurred on resting bats. Bats had low resting metabolic rate and	
Par boaded googe Anger indigue	LID	spent little time flying, and so had low daily energy expenditure.	Richop et al. (2015)
bal-neaded goose Anser maicus	ACC	estimate flying metabolic rate from heart rate. Simultaneously used	Distiop et al. (2015)
		accelerometers to estimate biomechanical costs. Flying metabolic rate increased	
		with altitude due to low air density at high altitudes, and geese spent little time	
		at high altitude even though that would have minimized the direct hight path.	
Flying divers Great white pelican Pelecanus onocrotalus	HR	Lower heart rate during flight formation assumed to convert directly into	Weimerskirch et al. (2001)
F		11.4–14% reduction in flying metabolic rate for pelicans flying in formation.	
		However, because no calibration equation was created, actual metabolic rate or	
Razorbill Alca torda	DLW	Flying metabolic rate estimated as 108 W/kg and diving metabolic rate	Hansen (2003)
		(including surface intervals) as 72 W/kg based on a multiple regression with the	
Thick billed murre Uria lomvia	DIW	intercept set to zero.	Filiott et al (2013a, 2013b)
Thee blied marte on a formu	ACC	Flying metabolic rate (~150 W) were high while diving metabolic rate (~30 W)	Elliott et al., 2014a)
		were quite low, and suppressed during deep dives. Flying and diving metabolic	
Pelagic cormorant Phalacrocorax pelagicus	DLW.	DEE estimated from accelerometers correlated with that estimated from DLW.	Elliott et al. (2013a). Stothart
Q	ACC	Flying metabolic rate (~160 W) were high while diving metabolic rate (~60 W)	et al. (in press)
Creat cormonant Declacroscorgy carbo	UD	were expected from allometric predictions.	Crémillet et al. 2005: White
Great cormorant Phalacrocorax curbo	пк	vear from heart rate. Low DEE during Arctic winters was associated with little	et al., 2011
		time spent diving.	
Common eider Somateria mollissima	HR	Used a calibration equation developed in captivity to estimate non-flying	Pelletier et al. (2008)
		metabolic rate during flying. Used heart rate to develop time budgets, and	
		estimated daily energy expenditure from heart rate over 7 months. Main	
		conclusion was that despite high flying metabolic rate, DEE was low because	
Disco		time spene nying was low.	
Weddell seal Leptonychotes weddellii	R	Oxygen consumption directly measured as seals surfaced in isolated dive	Kooyman et al., 1973;
1		holes. Diving metabolic rate was higher during short dives than long	Castellini et al., 1992;
		dives. Oxygen consumption correlated with number of flipper strokes per	Williams et al., 2004
Steller sea lion Eumetopias jubatus	R	Oxygen consumption directly measured on sea lions diving in the open ocean,	Fahlman et al., 2008;
		but trained to surface into an oxygen chamber. High diving metabolic rate may	Gerlinsky et al., 2013
		be partially due to short dive durations, which did not allow for full metabolic suppression	
African penguin Spheniscus demersus	DLW	Diving metabolic rate estimated from regression of DEE on distance travelled.	Nagy et al. (1984)
		Because the value is double the allometric relationship for penguins, and because	
		methods, Elliott et al. (2013a) excluded this value from their analyses.	
Antarctic fur seal Arctocephalus gazella	DLW	Diving metabolic rate estimated from regression of DEE on time spent at sea for	Costa et al. (1989)
Australian sea lion Neonhoca cineraa	שום	lactating females.	Costa and Cales (2002)
Australian sea non reophota cinerca	DLVV	lactating females.	costa ana Gaics (2003)
New Zealand sea lion Phocarctos hookeri	DLW	Diving metabolic rate estimated from regression of DEE on time spent at sea for	Costa and Gales (2000)
Eight penguin species	DLW	Diving metabolic rate estimated from regression of DEE on time spent at sea.	Reviewed by Nagy et al.
• •		Because much of the time at sea is likely not spent diving, and metabolism is	(2001)
		suppressed during diving, these values may be unreliable.	

Table 1 (continued)

Species	Method	Results	Source
Australian sea lion Neophoca cinerea	DLW	Diving metabolic rate estimated from regression of DEE on time spent at sea for	Fowler et al. (2007)
Leatherback turtle Dermochelys coriacea	DLW	females and juveniles. At-sea metabolic rate estimated as 0.20–0.74 W/kg. Jones et al. (2009) suggested that DLW may be inaccurate in turtles due to high water flux and low metabolic rate	Wallace et al. (2005)
Olive ridley turtle Lepidochelys olivacea	DLW	At-sea metabolic rate for hatchlings estimated as seven times resting metabolic rate and higher than digging out of nest. Jones et al. (2009) suggested that DLW	Trullas et al. (2006)
Green turtle Chelonia mydas	DLW	may be inaccurate in turtles due to high water flux and low metabolic rate. At-sea metabolic rate for juveniles did not vary with season. Andrews et al. (2009) suggested that DLW may be inaccurate in turtles due to high water flux and low metabolic rate	Southwood et al. (2006)
Macaroni penguin Eudyptes chrysolophus	HR	Used a calibration equation for the same individuals to estimate DEE throughout the year. DEE was highest across the breeding season, not just during chick registing. Panguing suppressed metabolism during doep durg	Green et al. (2001, 2005, 2009a)
Gentoo penguin Pygoscelis papua	HR	Used a calibration equation developed in flow chambers and treadmills to estimate daily energy expenditure across the breeding season. DEE was higher when penguins had large chicks than during incubation or guard stages primarily because penguins spent more time at sea. Metabolic rate during diving was lower than swimming in flow chambers.	Bevan et al. (2002)
King penguin Aptenodytes patagonicus	HR	Used a calibration equation developed on captive birds to estimate diving metabolic rate. Penguins suppressed metabolism during deep dives, especially if those dives had long bottom times. Prey pursuit did not influence metabolic rate.	Froget et al., 2004; Halsey et al., 2010
Emperor penguin Aptenodytes fosteri	PPO	Decline of blood oxygen concentrations during diving, including extremely low concentrations during long dives. Could be used to estimate diving metabolic	Ponganis et al. (2009)
California sea lion Zalophus californianus	PPO	rate. Decline of blood oxygen concentrations during diving, including extremely low concentrations during long dives. Could be used to estimate diving metabolic	McDonald and Ponganis (2013)
Northern elephant seal Mirounga angustirostris	PPO	Decline of blood oxygen concentrations during diving, including extremely low concentrations during long dives, and was independent of activity during the dive	Meir et al. (2013)
Green turtle Chelonia mydas	DBA	Diving metabolic rate estimated based on laboratory calibrations of DBA.	Okuyama et al. (2014)

(and other similar models) predicts that flying metabolic rate should be U-shaped, with lowest metabolic rate at intermediate flight speeds (Tobalske et al., 2003; Pennycuick, 2008). Only 8 species out of 19 tested have shown a U-shaped power curve (Rayner, 1999; Clark and Dudley, 2010; Engel et al. 2010). Thus, actual measurements often fail to support even qualitative predictions from theory, let alone robust, quantitative measurements (see debate between Hedenström, 2012 and Chernetsov, 2012, and citations therein).

Biomechanical modeling of diving faces all the same problems as modeling of flying—difficulty of modeling biomechanics in a fluid medium and uncertainty of how biomechanical work is converted into oxygen consumption—as well as the issue of hypometabolism. During deep dives, breath-hold divers alter their circulatory system, reduce heart rate and decrease body temperature to minimize oxygen consumption (Butler and Jones, 1997; Kooyman and Ponganis, 1998; Ponganis et al. 2009). Such drastic changes in whole animal metabolism obscure any effect of biomechanics in many deep-diving homeotherms (e.g. Halsey et al., 2011b; Meir et al., 2013; Elliott et al., 2013a). At the moment, it is not possible to predict oxygen consumption rates from biomechanical modeling for diving animals.

Applying values measured in the laboratory avoid some of those issues, and there are some good examples of such approaches in shallowdiving mammals (e.g. Nolet et al., 1993; Yeates et al., 2007). However, applying measurements of diving metabolic rate in shallow dive tanks is problematic for deep-diving animals as those measurements are often 3–4 times higher than actual deep dives due to hypometabolism and reduced buoyancy (Green, 2011; Ponganis et al. 2011; Elliott et al., 2013a). Studies that use freely diving, trained sea lions or seals and penguins at isolated dive holes overcome those issues, but are not applicable for many organisms, and measure only a single integrated signal from the entire dive (Kooyman, 2004; Fahlman et al., 2008; Ponganis et al. 2011). Unsteady wind effects, alterations of air flow due the gas mask during respirometry and energy substitution mean that wild animals may also have altered flying metabolic rate compared to laboratory tests (Rayner, 1999; Bishop et al., 2002).

Biologging approaches provide opportunities for direct measurement of energy expenditure proxies (i.e. heart rate, acceleration, blood oxygen levels) in situ that overcome many of these drawbacks. They also provide the ability to directly test, and therefore refine, biomechanical models. An excellent example was employed by Portugal et al. (2014), who combined biomechanical modeling with GPS-accelerometry to show that ibises flying in V-formation were finely tuning their wingbeats to take advantage of the wake of the preceding bird—providing strong empirical confirmation for theory. The measurements would have been stronger were they coupled with measurements of oxygen consumption via heart rate, blood oxygen levels or doubly-labelled water.

3. Measuring diving and flying metabolic rate in the field

Respirometry is the gold standard for measuring metabolic rate, and is typically used to calibrate other techniques, although even wholeorganism oxygen consumption is merely an approximation of true energy use at the cellular level (Salin et al., 2015). While respirometry has been used in semi-wild situations (Table 1), it is difficult to imagine how a truly wild animal could be induced to wear an oxygen mask while foraging in the wild. Thermal imagery can also be used to examine heat loss and refine estimates of flying metabolic rate from respirometry in a wind tunnel (Ward et al., 2004), but, again that technique has not been used in the wild because of the difficulty of getting accurate images in field conditions. A third technique, used for measuring diving metabolic rate, involves counting breaths following surfacing, either using a beak-opening sensors (Wilson et al., 2002, 2003), accelerometers or video recorders (Okuyama et al., 2014) or acoustic recorders (Le Boeuf et al., 2000; Genin et al., 2015). Although the number of breaths correlates with diving behavior, because of variation in tidal volume and oxygen content during breaths, the technique has yet been used to estimate metabolic rate directly. Recently, Paul Ponganis and colleagues have used electrodes that measure partial pressure of oxygen to measure the oxygen content of blood at various points in the circulatory system (Ponganis et al., 2009). Originally applied to emperor penguins at isolated dive holes, the technique has now been used on wild elephant seals and sea lions (Ponganis et al., 2009; McDonald and Ponganis, 2013; Meir et al., 2013). By measuring oxygen depletion over the course of a dive, the technique directly measures oxygen consumption rate during diving. Indeed, by placing sensors at different locations within the cardiovascular system, the technique can, in principle, measure the oxygen consumption of a particular organ. As that technique has been reviewed in detail elsewhere in this issue, I only review in detail the four 'established' techniques for measuring diving and flying metabolic rate in the field: mass loss, isotopic enrichment (primarily doubly-labelled water), heart rate and accelerometry. I also summarize other techniques, such as metabolites and body temperature, which have provided insight into the physiology of flying and diving, and provide broad-scale information on flying and diving metabolic rate.

3.1. Mass loss

The mass loss technique uses loss of mass over a fixed period of time to measure energy expenditure, by assuming a fixed rate of evaporative water loss and lipid depletion. The technique has primarily been used in the field to measure resting metabolic rate for fasting birds, an approach which has been reviewed in detail (Portugal and Guillemette, 2011). The mass loss approach is effective for animals in phase II fasting if the substrate being consumed and its kinetics during mass loss is known (Portugal and Guillemette, 2011). No flying or diving animal is likely to satisfy those assumptions, yet the technique has been used to estimate flying metabolic rate assuming that flight is fueled exclusively by lipids. For example, wind tunnel studies, where accurate measurements of lean and lipid mass are possible before and after flights, have used this method (e.g. Gerson and Guglielmo 2011). In the field, mass loss was one of the first techniques used to measure flying metabolic rate in the wild (Table 1). Those pioneering studies used measurements of mean population mass before and after a migration of known or assumed duration. However, measurements were highly variable and sometimes an order of magnitude lower than estimates using other methods (Videler, 2006). In the field, apart from the possibility that individuals gain mass through foraging, variation in evaporative water loss and in use of lipids relative to proteins as fuel means that the technique is often unreliable. The mass loss technique holds promise if lipid depletion during flight is measured via sacrificing animals or magnetic resonance (Lindström and Piersma, 1993; Seewagen and Guglielmo, 2011). The technique was also used on bats living in a greenhouse (where feeding could be controlled for) to provide some of the first flying metabolic rate values for bats (Winter and Von Helversen, 1998).

3.2. Isotopic enrichment including doubly-labelled water

The doubly-labelled water method is by far the most widely used method for measuring daily energy expenditure in the field, including flying and diving metabolic rate (Speakman, 1997; Videler, 2006). The method involves injecting an animal with water labelled with both ²H and ¹⁸O and using the difference in the rate of disappearance of the two isotopes, and an estimate of the respiratory quotient, to estimate oxygen consumption. Several equations have been developed to estimate energy expenditure, varying in their estimates of one or two pools for body water, the fractionation of isotopes, how total body water is estimated and the respiratory quotient. Those different equations can lead to a 45% variation in estimates of daily energy



Fig. 4. Partial regression of energy expenditure on time spent flying in thick-billed murres (solid black line). The y-axis represents the residual after accounting for time spent diving, resting on the water and resting on land. Daily energy expenditure using doubly-labelled water typically has error of $\pm 20\%$ for individuals. Effects of potential sources of error are shown. Flying metabolic rate (slope of energy expenditure relative to time spent flying) estimated by each technique is shown at the end of each annotation. Reproduced from Data Appendix to Elliott et al. (2013a).

expenditure (Shaffer 2011). Nonetheless, if properly applied—for instance, there is growing evidence that the single-pool model with the plateau method is appropriate in most birds—error in the estimation of daily energy expenditure of individual animals using doublylabelled water is typically less than 20% (Butler et al., 2004). As that error is largely randomly distributed, error at the level of a group is then smaller, with mean error typically less than 5% (Speakman, 1997; Butler et al., 2004), with the exception of aquatic species with high water turnover, such as sea turtles (Jones et al., 2009). The doublylabelled water method's application to wild animals has been reviewed previously (Speakman, 1997; Butler et al., 2004; Shaffer 2011; Speakman and Hambly, 2016), and I review only its application to measure flying and diving metabolic rate.

Doubly-labelled water provides average daily energy expenditure over a particular time period for individual animals. For the purposes of this review, and because caveats and challenges have been well reviewed elsewhere, I assume that the technique accurately estimates daily energy expenditure. If activity budgets are monitored simultaneously (T_a, proportion of time in activity a; T_b, proportion of time in activity b; etc. such that proportion of time in all activities adds to 100%), then a multiple regression can be used to determine activityspecific metabolic rates from average daily energy expenditure (DEE):

$$DEE = a T_a + b T_b + c T_c + d T_d...$$
(1)

In that case, each slope (a, b, c, etc.) is equal to the activity-specific metabolic rate, such as flying metabolic rate or diving metabolic rate. A model selection approach, such as Akaike's Information Criterion, can be used to provide a rationale for determining if particular activities are energetically different from one another or should be subsumed into a single term. Fig. 4 demonstrates an application of Eq. (1) where activity a (flying) is estimated after accounting for activity b (diving), activity c (resting on water) and d (resting on land). It is important that a multiple regression with the intercept forced to zero is used (dashed line in Fig. 4) rather than a simple regression (dotted line) because of likely covariation between different activities (Wilson and Culik, 1993)—although most studies continue to use the inaccurate

simple regression approach (e.g. Wikelski et al., 2003). Setting the intercept to zero, because all activities sum to zero so that if no time passes no energy is expended, avoids subsuming variation in energy expenditure within the intercept term (which would alter activity-specific metabolic rates). It is also important that average daily energy expenditure, and not total energy expenditure, is used as the response variable, to avoid spurious correlations because both axes depend on time (e.g. Pettit et al., 1988). A final caveat is that sample sizes need to be large so that there are sufficient degrees of freedom per estimated slope. In the case of Fig. 4, 43 individuals were sampled, meaning that sample size per activity was only 10–11.

An alternative approach is to assume a metabolic rate for one activity, typically resting, so that all of the residual variation can be assigned to the second activity, such as flight (Hails, 1979; Costa and Prince, 1987; Ballance, 1995). However, because metabolism during 'resting' in the wild is often elevated by digestion, activity or thermoregulation, such approaches can overestimate flying metabolic rate (Bevan et al., 1997).

Capture, injection and handling of an animal for an hour or longer to wait for the isotope to dilute can cause altered behavior and consequently biased estimates of typical daily energy expenditure. For instance, some animals to cease normal behaviors and 'sulk' following capture (Schultner et al., 2010; Harris and Wanless, 2011), leading to an underestimate of daily energy expenditure (Schultner et al., 2010). One benefit of Eq. (1) is that it is not biased by such altered behavior. If an animal flies less, then it will expend less energy flying, but the slope (activity-specific metabolic rate) will be unaltered. Those activity-specific metabolic rates can then be applied to activity budgets from animals that were not handled extensively to estimate unbiased daily energy expenditure.

A second isotopic enrichment technique, ¹³C labelled bicarbonate (NaH¹³CO₃), has also been used to measure flying metabolic rate using similar techniques to doubly-labelled water (Hambly et al., 2002). Because CO₂ rapidly disappears from the body, the technique can be used to measure flying metabolic rate over a timescale of minutes. Although most applications have been in captivity, one study used the technique to measure the flying metabolic rate of bats in a large enclosure in the Costa Rican jungle (Voigt and Holderied, 2012). In that case, CO₂ consumption was directly measured via respirometry at rest before and after flights so that flying metabolic rate could be estimated directly via subtraction.

The doubly-labelled water approach has been widely used to estimate flying (20 times, Table 1) and diving (19 times, Table 1) metabolic rate in the field, and those estimates are guite similar to those measured in wind tunnels and dive tanks (Videler, 2006). A study using doublylabelled water led to the first direct measurements of the metabolic cost of migration (Wikelski et al., 2003). Migrating thrushes were radio-tagged and injected with doubly-labelled water, and then followed by car so that a second blood sample could be obtained, flight duration estimated and flying metabolic rate estimated. Surprisingly, most migration metabolic costs were associated with stop-overs rather than migratory flights because so much more time was spent at stop overs. The doubly-labelled water approach allowed only for a single estimate of flying metabolic rate. The same research group continued their studies using the heart rate method to examine inter-individual and intra-individual variation in flying metabolic rate. In particular, they showed that thrushes with pointed wings and low wing loadings flying on calm nights had low heart rates-and by extension low metabolism (Bowlin and Wikelski, 2008). That approach is the subject of the next section.

3.3. Heart rate

After the doubly-labelled water technique, heart rate is the most frequently used technique to assess flying and diving metabolic rate in wild animals (9 times for flying and 5 times for diving, Table 1). The underlying principle, evident to anyone who has spent time exercising, is that heart rate increases when an animal's metabolism increases, so as to deliver more oxygen to the organs. The heart rate method is described quantitatively by Fick's equation:

$$V_{02} = f_H \, V_s(C_{a02} - C_{v02}) \tag{2}$$

where V_{02} is the rate of oxygen consumption, f_H is the heart rate, V_s is the stroke volume of the heart, C_{a02} is the oxygen content of arterial blood and C_{v02} is the oxygen content of venous blood (Fick, 1870). From Fick's equation, it is apparent that heart rate will tend to correlate with oxygen consumption, but that relationship will also be affected by stroke volume and blood oxygen content. The cardiovascular system of fish and invertebrates is substantially different than those of tetrapods, and the effect of temperature is a complicating factor in studies of heterotherms (Green, 2011). Consequently, the heart rate method is primarily used on birds and mammals (Green, 2011). The heart rate method's application to wild animals has been reviewed by others (Butler et al., 2004; Green, 2011), and here I only provide a short summary as it pertains to diving and flying.

To provide a quantitative estimate of oxygen consumption rate in the wild, it is necessary to first develop a heart rate-oxygen consumption rate calibration under conditions that mimic as much as possible those occurring in the wild (Butler et al., 2004; Green, 2011). Because of the difficulty of conducting such validations for flying and diving animals, there are more studies of qualitative changes in metabolic rate during flying and diving than studies that attempt to quantify those changes (Green, 2011). For instance, heart rate is often higher during flapping flight than gliding or soaring (e.g. Sapir et al., 2010; Duriez et al., 2014), but because heart rate is seldom calibrated, it is not possible to directly estimate the difference in metabolic rate between flapping and gliding. As the heart rate-oxygen consumption rate relationship is seldom 1:1, it is not possible from qualitative studies to conclude that, for instance, a four-fold increase in heart rate is equivalent to a fourfold increase in metabolic rate (Green, 2011). Even where validations are completed in captivity, transferring the calibration equation to the wild may be problematic because stress, social interactions or muscle disuse (reduced heart size) in captivity may lead to variation in heart rate independent of changes in metabolic rate (McPhee et al., 2003; Green, 2011). The cardiovascular system can also change in complex ways with body mass, and the calibration between heart rate and oxygen consumption rate can vary either as a power law or isometrically with body mass, structural size, or a combination of both (Green et al., 2001; Froget et al., 2001; Fahlman et al., 2004; Halsey et al., 2007; Green, 2011). Due to variation in body mass or stress physiology, there is high inter-individual variation in heart rate-oxygen consumption rate calibrations. Thus, as was noted for doubly-labelled water, estimates of metabolic rate derived from heart rate are more accurate for average group values (coefficient of variation <5%) than for individuals (coefficient of variation > 12%; Butler et al., 2004; Green, 2011). Indeed, it is often simply not possibly to reliably estimate metabolic rate for an individual from heart rate (Green, 2011).

Bradycardia during diving and tachycardia during surfacing cause particular problems for the heart rate method that are not present for running or flying animals. Some diving animals have shunts that bypass capillary beds during deep dives while others add blood from the spleen to the circulatory system, both of which can alter the relationship between heart rate and oxygen consumption rate beyond validations in shallow lab tanks (Woakes and Butler, 1983; Butler et al., 2004). In some cases, tachycardia during surfacing offsets bradycardia during diving such that average heart rate across an entire dive cycle correlates with metabolic rate (Woakes and Butler, 1983; Fedak, 1986; Webb et al., 1998). However, such validations have not been tested for very deep dives where cardiovascular changes are particularly pronounced (but see Green et al., 2007). The recent deployment of units measuring oxygen partial pressure at different points in the body offer the possibility of finer understanding of oxygen store management during deep dives, potentially improving the ability of heart rate to predict metabolic rate during diving (Ponganis et al., 2009).

A major benefit of the heart rate method over the doubly-labelled water method is that it can be used to estimate energy expenditure at both short and long temporal scales. Whereas the doubly-labelled water method is limited by the dilution half-life of the isotope in the body to typically hours to a few days, the heart rate method has been used to measure energy expenditure of activities lasting seconds and of organisms throughout the annual cycle. However, at short time scales, transitory cardiovascular adjustments, such as those during diving, can mean that heart rate is not very accurate. For instance, it is unclear how one would use heart rate to measure the metabolic cost of fine-scale activities during diving, such as lunge-feeding or buoyancycontrolled ascent. That such adjustments are not restricted to diving is evident from the observation that heart rate-oxygen consumption rate correlation coefficients are generally higher when values are averaged over longer time scales than short time scales (Yamamoto et al., 1979). At the same time, the cardiovascular system can be extensively remodeled throughout the annual cycle, as body size, heart size and blood oxygen content are known to vary throughout the year (Jehl, 1997; Piersma et al., 1999; Landys-Ciannelli et al., 2002; Elliott et al., 2008; Portugal et al., 2009). Thus, heart rate-oxygen consumption rate calibrations completed at one stage of the annual cycle may not apply to other stages.

Both qualitative and quantitative estimates of metabolic rate via heart rate have greatly enhanced understanding of animal flying and diving. Several studies have demonstrated the importance of inactivity as an energy saving technique. Spotted antbirds (Hylophylax naevioides), small songbirds with poor flight ability that have limited foraging opportunities when their main foraging source, army ants, are dormant, save considerable energy by spending most of the day inactive (Steiger et al., 2009). Their inactivity is coincident with a 'slow' life history strategy of few offspring, high survival, high immunity and low basal metabolic rate. The same research group also documented low daily energy expenditure for tropical bats due to low time spent flying (Dechmann et al., 2011). Similarly, although flying metabolic rate is very high for eider ducks, daily energy expenditure is low because they spend little time flying (Pelletier et al., 2008; Guillemette and Butler, 2012). Given that the relative proportion of time active often plays a strong role in determining metabolism, acceleration can potentially provide additional insight into metabolic costs, which is the topic of the next section.

3.4. Accelerometry

Energy expended is defined as equal to the mechanical work done, W. W is defined to be the integral of force, F, applied in the direction of travel, integrated over the distance travelled, x. For a body moving at a nearly-constant speed, v, such as a car, F is equal to the counteracting forces (i.e. drag, gravity, etc.). However, animals rapidly accelerate and decelerate during each gait cycle so there is a net force unequal to the counteracting forces (Gleiss et al., 2011; Halsey et al., 2011a). Accelerometry is based on the principle that most energy expenditure is associated with that net force. According to Newton's second law, net force, F_{net} , is proportional to the product of mass, m, and acceleration, a, such that:

$$W = \int F dx \approx \int F_{net} dx = mv \int a \, dt = mv DBA \tag{3}$$

For a given constant mass and speed, mechanical work is then approximated by the integral of acceleration over time and is termed dynamic body acceleration, *DBA* (see also Eq. (7) in Gleiss et al., 2011). In practice, *DBA* is calculated after removing the static component (gravity) unassociated with work (Wilson et al., 2006), and *DBA* must be

calculated as the integral of acceleration over several muscle cycles (e.g. wing beats during flight, flipper beats during swimming or steps during running).

DBA correlates with energy expenditure in humans, captive or semicaptive animals and wild animals (Wilson et al., 2006; reviewed by Halsey et al., 2009, 2011a, 2011b; Stothart et al., in press), and has been used to quantify the fine-scale energy use of animals in the wild (Williams et al., 2014; Bishop et al., 2015). The technique assumes not only that an accurate measure of mechanical work can be derived from DBA, but also that energy expenditure in animals is primarily associated with mechanical power. However, as argued in Section 2, oxygen consumption rates can sometimes only correlate weakly with mechanical power because of variation in muscle efficiency, thermoregulation, digestion and other factors (Rayner, 1999; Pennycuick, 2008). Nonetheless, accelerometry has proven accurate in spite of this and indeed activity may be an important component of thermoregulation and "resting" metabolism (Green et al., 2009a, 2009b). The appropriate formulation of DBA-the L1 norm, termed overall DBA, or the L2 norm, termed vectorial DBA (Gleiss et al., 2011)-has been contested, although there is little practical difference as both measures are highly correlated (Qasem et al., 2012; Stothart et al., in press). Other metrics than DBA have been derived from biomechanical principles (e.g. Spivey and Bishop 2013), and more work is needed to validate those other metrics in the wild.

To measure flying and diving metabolic rate with accelerometry, DBA (or any other metric) must first be calibrated. Many of the same issues that cause inaccuracies with the heart rate method likely play a role in accelerometry. Although the stress response should not affect mechanical work in a similar way as heart rate, changes in body temperature or similar adjustments leading to hypermetabolism or hypometabolism should be more difficult to detect via accelerometry than heart rate. Specifically, (1) average metabolic rate estimated for a group using DBA is likely more accurate than metabolic rate estimated for an individual assuming individual calibrations are not obtained (it is difficult to envision calibrating every individual in a wind tunnel or dive tank before field work), (2) metabolic rate estimated from DBA averaged over long time scales is likely more accurate than metabolic rate estimated from DBA averaged over short time scales because anaerobic respiration can power short bursts altering oxygen consumption rate-DBA calibrations, and (3) DBA is a proxy for mass-specific energy expenditure, not total energy expenditure (see Eq. (3)).

One application of accelerometers has been to measure fine-scale metabolic costs, such as those associated with turning (Wilson et al., 2013; Amélineau et al., 2014), windscapes (Amélineau et al., 2014), diving (Meir et al., 2013) and burst sprints to capture prey (Williams et al., 2014). In addition, accelerometers provide robust time budgets that can be used to partition metabolic costs. Although heart rate can also provide time budgets, because heart rate during different activities often overlap (Pelletier et al., 2008), coupling heart rate-oxygen consumption calibrations with accelerometry to determine time budgets can be particularly powerful. One of the best examples of this approach followed bar-headed geese as they migrated over the Himalayas (Bishop et al., 2015). Heart rate correlated with biomechanical costs measured from the accelerometers, providing strong support that flying metabolic rate was being accurately estimated. Flying metabolic rate increased rapidly (exponent of 7) with altitude, and geese made longer trips to avoid high altitudes.

3.5. Diving and flying metabolic rate measurements in the field

Diving or flying metabolic rates have been measured in the field for over 50 species of animals (Fig. 5). Diving metabolic rate was generally lower than flying metabolic rate for a given body mass, although flying metabolic rate for aerial insectivores (swallows and swifts) and gliders (albatrosses, petrels and relatives) were nearly as low or even lower. Estimates for at-sea metabolic rate, all from doubly-labelled water, were



Fig. 5. (a) Diving (black symbols) and flying (gray symbols) metabolic rates for animals measured in the field. Data from studies in Table 1 and available in Data Appendix to Elliott et al. (2013a). Studies that measured at-sea metabolic rate (average energy expenditure while at sea), often considered the same as diving metabolic rate, are shown separately from studies that measured diving metabolic rate (average energy expenditure while diving at sea). Estimates for diving metabolic rate for sea turtles were excluded from analyses because of high water turnover (Jones et al., 2009). (b) The same data subdivided by technique used to measure metabolic rate.

somewhat higher than estimates for diving metabolic rate, implying that metabolism was suppressed during dives—and that future studies using doubly-labelled water should subpartition at-sea metabolic rate into surface and diving metabolic rate. Diving metabolic rate for non-penguins ("other diving birds") was higher than for penguins. Finally, estimates of flying metabolic rate from mass loss were variable and sometimes quite low, whereas estimates from doubly-labelled water and heart rate were comparable (and in line with estimates from wind tunnels, Videler, 2006).

4. Proxies for metabolism during flying and diving

Apart from metabolism, several other physiological parameters have been inferred from field measurements, including measurements of organ size, body temperature and plasma metabolites. Many of those parameters can be considered proxies for metabolism as they are altered depending on energy gain or expenditure. For instance, plasma triglyceride levels, associated with lipid deposition rate, were higher in migrants at a high quality stop-over site than in migrants at a low quality site, while β -OH-butyrate, associated with fasting, showed the opposite trends (Guglielmo et al., 2005). It can be assumed that those individuals with high triglycerides are typically expending more energy than those with high β -OH-butyrate.

Other plasma metabolites have also been used in the lab to understand flying and diving physiology. For instance, birds flying in low humidity have high levels of uric acid in the plasma, implying that they fuel flight partially with protein, which provides more water than lipids (Gerson and Guglielmo, 2011). In another study, plasma creatinine kinase, an indicator of muscle damage, was highest just after long distance flights, implying that long flights may cause muscle damage analogous to sports injuries (Guglielmo et al., 2001). Similar applications during diving demonstrated that plasma lactate in penguins and seals increases during long dives, providing evidence for anaerobic metabolism (Kooyman et al., 1980; Kooyman and Ponganis, 1998). Related to changes in metabolites, both diving and flying can be associated with changes in hematocrit, regulated by changes in plasma volume or the input of red blood cells from the spleen. In a similar vein, flying and diving can lead to increased oxidative stress. For instance, hypoxia coupled with repeated ischaemia-reperfusion at the surface should lead to increased oxidative stress during diving (Ramirez et al., 2007). Similarly, old homing pigeons (Columba livia) had higher oxidative stress after long flights (Costantini et al., 2008). Finally, variation in plasma hormone levels can play an important role in the physiology of flying and diving. The invention of a miniaturized biosensor that measures uric acid levels *in vivo* heralds the potential for miniature sensors to revolutionize the field by measuring metabolite levels during flying and diving, although to prevent excessive bleeding, such tags are likely to measure interstitial metabolite levels (Gumus et al., 2014). Periodic measurements of uric acid, nitrogen tension, hemoglobin content, glucose, triglycerides, lactate, β -OH-butyrate, oxidative stress or hormone levels over the course of a dive or flight would provide detailed information on the processes ongoing within those behaviors.

Body temperature is another proxy for metabolism, with high body temperature often associated with high metabolic rate, such as birds ascending in air. Body temperature generally declines during diving (Hill et al., 1987; Bevan et al. 2002; Niizuma et al., 2007), which helps reduce diving metabolic rate and increase dive duration. In some, but not all species, even core body temperature has been reported to decrease (e.g. Handrich et al., 1997; Bevan et al., 1997 vs. Grémillet et al., 1998; Niizuma et al., 2007). In contrast, flight induces a 1–2 °C increase in body temperature, and body temperature sometimes increases with flight duration in birds and bats (Speakman, 1991; Grémillet et al., 1998; Adams et al., 1999; Voigt and Lewanzik, 2011). During bouts of high activity flight body temperature can increase by ~2 °C above stable flight (Bishop et al., 2015).

5. Future recommendations

Many more studies have developed calibrations for heart rate and accelerometers than have actually used those studies to measure metabolic rate in the wild (e.g. Green, 2011). Although more work is needed on developing such calibrations for diving and flying across a wide variety of body plans, I urge others to conduct more studies that actually use such calibrations to measure metabolism in the wild. To accurately measure metabolic rate during flying and diving in the wild, I provide the following recommendations:

(1) Calibrate biologger-derived estimates under conditions that are as similar as possible to those where the calibration will be applied. Due to the technical difficulties associated with calibrations in wind tunnels or during deep dives, and differences between captive and wild animals, the use of multiple techniques simultaneously in the wild can provide added insight and can be used to calibrate one another (e.g. Elliott et al., 2013b; Duriez et al., 2014; Bishop et al., 2015).

- (2) Derive confidence intervals for the calibrations and apply those intervals to the estimates in the wild. Examine the repeatability of calibration equations across variation in stress, body mass and behaviours that are likely to occur in the wild so that robust confidence intervals can be created.
- (3) Ideally, due to considerable inter-individual variation, calibrations would occur on the same individuals as those used to estimate metabolic rate.
- (4) Incorporate body mass into calibrations, as variation in body mass can have a strong impact on acceleration, heart size and other relevant variables.
- (5) Use the seven principles for minimizing tag effects listed previously so that the tag itself does not lead to inaccurate estimates of metabolic rate.
- (6) Calibrations are more accurate over longer time scales (hours) than shorter scales (seconds; Yamamoto et al., 1979; Green, 2011).
- (7) Create the simplest possible calibration equations that still have small confidence intervals by using information theoretic (AIC) or other approaches to maximize model parsimony.
- (8) Calibration equations cannot always be extrapolated beyond the scale at which they were calibrated (Green, 2011), especially for metrics such as heart rate that do not change instantaneously as work changes.

Point 8 notwithstanding, the greatest asset of the biologging approach is the ability to measure energy expenditure at both short and long scales. At the fine scale, the combined use of heart rate, body temperature and acceleration logging, potentially in combination with sensors that measure oxygen or metabolite levels in vivo, provides the potential for assessing the metabolic costs of relatively short behaviors. Fine-scale behaviours include foraging during diving, flying near a surface (i.e. the ground effect), flying or diving during moult, energetics of short or intermittent flights and takeoff-all of which have been modelled biomechanically or measured in the laboratory but never estimated directly in the field. At very long time scales, the combined use of heart rate loggers and accelerometers, potentially alongside other loggers, could provide insight into diving and flying metabolism across the annual cycle. Ground-breaking work on penguins (Green et al., 2005, 2009a, 2009b), cormorants (Grémillet et al., 2005; White et al., 2011) and eiders (Guillemette and Butler, 2012) revealed relatively little variation in daily energy expenditure across the annual cycle. However, those measurements may have been confounded by variation in cardiovascular systems or body mass throughout the annual cycle with linear effects on heart rate and acceleration, respectively.

An exciting result from new approaches to understanding the energetics of flying and diving is the potential to test and refine biomechanical models. For instance, if natural variation in air speed could be measured from GPS and wind speed, then the U-shaped power curve could be directly estimated in the wild from heart rate or acceleration. Many behavioral models are built upon such basic biomechanical principles, and accurate biomechanical models would provide robust tests of those models, just as data from time-depth recorders in the 1980s allowed robust application of foraging theory to dive behavior (Kramer, 1988). Furthermore, measurement of flying and diving metabolic rate across a variety of body plans could result in the development of allometric models that would predict such metabolic rates for any animal. The use of multi-sensor biologging equipment promises to fully exploit the continual advancements afforded by Moore's law to unravel the mysteries of animal non-terrestrial locomotion.

Acknowledgments

I thank G. Anderson and J. Altimiras for the invitation to write this review, and to J. Green, E. Studd and an anonymous reviewer for detailed comments that improved the manuscript.

References

- Adams, N.J., Brown, C.R., Nagy, K.A., 1986. Energy expenditure of free-ranging wandering albatrosses Diomedea exulans. Physiol. Zool. 59, 583-591.
- Adams, N.J., Pinshow, B., Gannes, L.Z., Biebach, H., 1999. Body temperatures in free-flying pigeons, J. Comp. Physiol. B. 169, 195-199.
- Amélineau, F., Péron, C., Lescroël, A., Authier, M., Provost, P., Grémillet, D., 2014. Windscape and tortuosity shape the flight costs of northern gannets. J. Exp. Biol. 217 876-885
- Andrews, R.D., 1998. Instrumentation for the remote monitoring of physiological and behavioral variables. J. Appl. Physiol. 85, 1974–1981.
- Andrews, R.D., Jones, D.R., Williams, J.D., Thorson, P.H., Oliver, G.W., Costa, D.P., Le Boeuf, B.J., 1997. Heart rates of northern elephant seals diving at sea and resting on the beach I Exp Biol 200 2083-2095
- Arnould, J.P.Y., Briggs, D.R., Croxall, J.P., Prince, P.A., Wood, A.G., 1996. The foraging behaviour and energetics of wandering albatrosses brooding chicks. Antarct, Sci. 8, 229-236
- Ballance, L.T., 1995. Flight energetics of free-ranging red-footed boobies (Sula sula). Physiol Zool 68 887-914
- Bannasch, R.U., Wilson, R.P., Culik, B.O., 1994. Hydrodynamic aspects of design and attachment of a back-mounted device in penguins. J. Exp. Biol. 194, 83–96. Barron, D.G., Brawn, J.D., Weatherhead, P.J., 2010. Meta-analysis of transmitter effects on
- avian behaviour and ecology. Meth. Ecol. Evol. 1, 180-187.
- Bevan, R.M., Butler, P.J., Woakes, A.J., Prince, P.A., 1995. The energy expenditure of freeranging black-browed albatrosses. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. B Biol. Sci. 350, 119-131
- Bevan, R.M., Boyd, I.L., Butler, P.J., Reid, K., Woakes, A.J., Croxall, J.P., 1997. Heart rates and abdominal temperatures of free-ranging South Georgian shags, Phalacrocorax georgianus, J. Exp. Biol. 200, 661-675.
- Bevan, R.M., Butler, P.J., Woakes, A.J., Boyd, I.L., 2002. The energetics of gentoo penguins, Pygoscelis papua, during the breeding season. Funct. Ecol. 16, 175-190.
- Biebach, H., 1998. Phenotypic organ flexibility in Garden Warblers Sylvia borin during long-distance migration. J. Avian Biol. 1, 529-535.
- Birt-Friesen, V.L., Montevecchi, W.A., Cairns, D.K., Macko, S.A., 1989. Activity-specific metabolic rates of free-living northern gannets and other seabirds. Ecology 70, 357–367.
- Bishop, C.M., Ward, S., Woakes, A.J., Butler, P.J., 2002. The energetics of barnacle geese (Branta leucopsis) flying in captive and wild conditions. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 133A. 225-237.
- Bishop, C.M., Spivey, R.J., Hawkes, L.A., Batbayar, N., Chua, B., Frappell, P.B., Milsom, W.K., Natsagdorj, T., Newman, S.H., Scott, G.R., Takekawa, J.Y., 2015. The roller coaster flight strategy of bar-headed geese conserves energy during Himalayan migrations. Science 347, 250-254
- Bowlin, M.S., Wikelski, M., 2008. Pointed wings, low wingloading and calm air reduce migratory flight costs in songbirds. PLoS One 3, e2154.
- Burger, A.E., Shaffer, S.A., 2008. Perspectives in ornithology application of tracking and data-logging technology in research and conservation of seabirds. Auk 125, 253-264.
- Butler, P.J., Jones, D.R., 1997. Physiology of diving of birds and mammals. Physiol. Rev. 77, 837-899
- Butler, P.J., Woakes, A.J., Bishop, C.M., 1998. Behaviour and physiology of Svalbard barnacle geese Branta leucopsis during their autumn migration. J. Avian Biol. 1, 536-545.
- Butler, P.J., Green, J.A., Boyd, I.L., Speakman, J.R., 2004. Measuring metabolic rate in the field: the pros and cons of the doubly-labelled water and heart rate methods. Funct. Ecol. 18, 163-183.
- Castellini, M.A., Kooyman, G.L., Ponganis, P.J., 1992. Metabolic rates of freely diving Weddell seals: correlations with oxygen stores, swim velocity and diving duration. J. Exp. Biol. 165, 181-194.
- Chernetsov, N., 2012. Optimal migration theory: response to Hedenström. Auk 129, 354-355
- Chivers, L.S., Hatch, S.A., Elliott, K.H., 2015. Accelerometry reveals an impact of short-term tagging on seabird activity budgets. Condor 118, 159-168.
- Clark, C.J., Dudley, R., 2010. Hovering and forward flight energetics in Anna's and Allen's hummingbirds. Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 83, 654-662.
- Costa, D.P., Gales, N.J., 2000. Foraging energetics and diving behavior of lactating New Zealand sea lions, Phocarctos hookeri. J. Exp. Biol. 203, 3655-3665
- Costa, D.P., Gales, N.J., 2003. Energetics of a benthic diver: seasonal foraging ecology of the Australian sea lion, Neophoca cinerea. Ecol. Monogr. 73, 27-43
- Costa, D.P., Prince, P.A., 1987. Foraging energetics of grey-headed albatrosses Diomedea chrysostoma at Bird Island, South Georgia. Ibis 129, 149-158.
- Costa, D.P., Sinervo, B., 2004. Field physiology: physiological insights from animals in nature. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 66, 209-238.
- Costa, D.P., Croxall, J.P., Duck, C.D., 1989. Foraging energetics of Antarctic fur seals in relation to changes in prey availability. Ecology 70, 596-606.
- Costantini, D., Dell'Ariccia, G., Lipp, H.P., 2008. Long flights and age affect oxidative status of homing pigeons (Columba livia). J. Exp. Biol. 211, 377-381.
- Croll, D.A., Gaston, A.J., Noble, D.G., 1991. Adaptive loss of mass in thick-billed murres. Condor 93, 496-502.
- Croll, D.A., Gaston, A.J., Burger, A.E., Konnoff, D., 1992. Foraging behavior and physiological adaptation for diving in thick-billed murres. Ecology 73, 344-356.
- Culik, B., Wilson, R., Bannasch, R.U., 1994. Underwater swimming at low energetic cost by pygoscelid penguins. J. Exp. Biol. 197, 65-78.
- Dechmann, D.K., Ehret, S., Gaub, A., Kranstauber, B., Wikelski, M., 2011. Low metabolism in a tropical bat from lowland Panama measured using heart rate telemetry: an unexpected life in the slow lane. J. Exp. Biol. 214, 3605-3612.
- Dial, K.P., Biewener, A.A., Tobalske, B.W., Warrick, D.R., 1997. Mechanical power output of bird flight. Nature 390, 67-70.

- Dolnik, V.R., Gavrilov, V.M., 1973. Energy Metabolism during Flight of some Passerines. In: Byikhovskii, B.E. (Ed.), Bird Migrations: Ecological and Physiological Factors. John Wiley & Sons, New York, pp. 288–296.
- Duriez, O., Kato, A., Tromp, C., Dell'Omo, G., Vyssotski, A.L., Sarrazin, F., Ropert-Coudert, Y., 2014. How cheap is soaring flight in raptors? A preliminary investigation in freelyflying vultures. PLoS One 9, e84887.
- Elliott, K.H., Davoren, G.K., Gaston, A.J., 2007. The influence of buoyancy and drag on the dive behaviour of an Arctic seabird. the thick-billed murre. Can. I. Zool. 85, 352–361.
- Elliott, K.H., Jacobs, S.R., Ringrose, J., Gaston, A.J., Davoren, G.K., 2008. Is mass loss in Brünnich's guillemots Uria lomvia an adaptation for improved flight performance or improved dive performance? J. Avian Biol. 39, 619–628.
- Elliott, K.H., McFarlane-Tranquilla, L., Burke, C.M., Hedd, A., Montevecchi, W.A., Anderson, W.G., 2012. Year-long deployments of small geolocators increase corticosterone levels in murres. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 466, 7–15.
- Elliott, K.H., Le Vaillant, M., Kato, A., Speakman, J.R., Ropert-Coudert, Y., 2013a. Accelerometry predicts daily energy expenditure in a bird with high activity levels. Biol. Lett. 9, 20120919.
- Elliott, K.H., Ricklefs, R.E., Gaston, A.J., Hatch, S.A., Speakman, J.R., Davoren, G.K., 2013b. High flight costs, but low dive costs, in auks support the biomechanical hypothesis for flightlessness in penguins. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 110, 9380–9384.
- Elliott, K.H., Le Vaillant, M., Kato, A., Gaston, A.J., Ropert-Coudert, Y., Hare, J.F., Speakman, J.R., Croll, D., 2014a. Age-related variation in energy expenditure in a long-lived bird within the envelope of an energy ceiling. J. Anim. Ecol. 83, 136–146.
- Elliott, K.H., O'Reilly, K.M., Hatch, S.A., Gaston, A.J., Hare, J.F., Anderson, W.G., 2014b. The prudent parent meets old age: a high stress response in very old seabirds supports the terminal restraint hypothesis. Horm. Behav. 66, 828–837.
- Engel, S., Bowlin, M.S., Hedenström, A., 2010. The role of wind-tunnel studies in integrative research on migration biology. Int. Comp. Biol. 50, 323–335.
- Fahlman, A., Handrich, Y., Woakes, A.J., Bost, C.A., Holder, R., Duchamp, C., Butler, P.J., 2004. Effect of fasting on the VO2-fH relationship in king penguins, *Aptenodytes patagonicus*. Am. J. Phys. 287, R870–R877.
- Fahlman, A., Wilson, R., Svärd, C., Rosen, D.A., Trites, A.W., 2008. Activity and diving metabolism correlate in Steller sea lion *Eumetopias jubatus*. Aquat. Biol. 2, 75–84 (Jan 1).
- Fedak, M.A., 1986. Diving and exercise in seals: a benthic perspective. In: Brubakk, A.D., Kanwisher, J.W., Sundess, G. (Eds.), Diving in Animals and Man. Tapir, Trondheim, pp. 11–32.
- Fick, A., 1870. Über die Messung des Blutquantums in den Herzventrikeln. Sitz. Physik. Med. Ges. 2, 16.
- Flint, E.N., Nagy, K.A., 1984. Flight energetics of free-living sooty terns. Auk 101, 288–294. Fowler, S.L., Costa, D.P., Arnould, J.P.Y., Gales, N.J., Burns, J.M., 2007. Ontogeny of oxygen stores and physiological diving capability in Australian sea lions. Funct. Ecol. 21, 922–935.
- Froget, G., Butler, P.J., Handrich, Y., Woakes, A.J., 2001. Heart rate as an indicator of oxygen consumption: influence of body condition in the king penguin. J. Exp. Biol. 204, 2133–2144.
- Froget, G., Butler, P.J., Woakes, A.J., Fahlman, A., Kuntz, G., Le Maho, Y., Handrich, Y., 2004. Heart rate and energetics of free-ranging king penguins (*Aptenodytes patagonicus*). J. Exp. Biol. 207, 3917–3926.
- Furness, R.W., Bryant, D.M., 1996. Effect of wind on field metabolic rates of breeding northern fulmars. Ecology 77, 1181–1188.
- Genin, A.L., Richard, G., Jouma'a, J., Picard, B., El Ksabi, N., Vacquié, G.J., Guinet, C., 2015. Characterization of postdive recovery using sound recordings and its relationship to dive duration, exertion, and foraging effort of southern elephant seals (*Mirounga leonina*). Mar. Mamm. Sci. 31, 1452–1470.
- Gerlinsky, C.D., Rosen, D.A., Trites, A.W., 2013. High diving metabolism results in a short aerobic dive limit for Steller sea lions (*Eumetopias jubatus*). J. Comp. Physiol. 183B, 699–708.
- Gerson, A.R., Guglielmo, C.G., 2011. Flight at low ambient humidity increases protein catabolism in migratory birds. Science 333, 1434–1436.
- Gill, R.E., Piersma, T., Hufford, G., Servranckx, R., Riegen, A., 2005. Crossing the ultimate ecological barrier: evidence for an 11 000-km-long nonstop flight from Alaska to New Zealand and eastern Australia by bar-tailed godwits. Condor 107, 1–20.
- Gleiss, A.C., Wilson, R.P., Shepard, E.L., 2011. Making overall dynamic body acceleration work: on the theory of acceleration as a proxy for energy expenditure. Methods Ecol. Evol. 2, 23–33.
- Goldbogen, J.A., Calambokidis, J., Croll, D.A., McKenna, M.F., Oleson, E., Potvin, J., Pyenson, N.D., Schorr, G., Shadwick, R.E., Tershy, B.R., 2012. Scaling of lunge-feeding performance in rorqual whales: mass-specific energy expenditure increases with body size and progressively limits diving capacity. Funct. Ecol. 26, 216–226.
- Gow, E.A., Done, T.W., Stutchbury, B.J., 2011. Radio-tags have no behavioral or physiological effects on a migratory songbird during breeding and molt. J. Field Ornithol. 82, 193–201.
- Green, J.A., 2011. The heart rate method for estimating metabolic rate: review and recommendations. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 158A, 287–304.
- Green, J.A., Butler, P.J., Woakes, A.J., Boyd, I.L., Holder, R.L., 2001. Heart rate and rate of oxygen consumption of exercising macaroni penguins. J. Exp. Biol. 204, 673–684.
- Green, J.A., Boyd, I.L., Woakes, A.J., Green, C.J., Butler, P.J., 2005. Do seasonal changes in metabolic rate facilitate changes in diving behaviour? J. Exp. Biol. 208, 2581–2593.
- Green, J., Halsey, L., Butler, P., Holder, R.L., 2007. Estimating the rate of oxygen consumption during submersion from the heart rate of diving animals. Am. J. Phys. 292, R2028–R2038.
- Green, J.A., Boyd, I.L., Woakes, A.J., Warren, N.L., Butler, P.J., 2009a. Evaluating the prudence of parents: daily energy expenditure throughout the annual cycle of a free-ranging bird. J. Avian Biol. 40, 529–538.
- Green, J.A., Halsey, L.G., Wilson, R.P., Frappell, P.B., 2009b. Estimating energy expenditure of animals using the accelerometry technique: activity, inactivity and comparison with the heart-rate technique. J. Exp. Biol. 212, 471–482.

- Grémillet, D., 2015. Let there be light my personal account of how Rory P. Wilson invented seabird geolocation. (Retrieved from) www.researchgate.net (on 3 January 2016).
- Grémillet, D., Tuschy, I., Kierspel, M., 1998. Body temperature and insulation in diving great cormorants and European shags. Funct. Ecol. 12, 386–394.
- Grémillet, D., Kuntz, G., Woakes, A.J., Gilbert, C., Robin, J.P., Le Maho, Y., Butler, P.J., 2005. Year-round recordings of behavioural and physiological parameters reveal the survival strategy of a poorly insulated diving endotherm during the Arctic winter. J. Exp. Biol. 208, 4231–4241.
- Guglielmo, C.G., Piersma, T., Williams, T.D., 2001. A sport-physiological perspective on bird migration: evidence for flight-induced muscle damage. J. Exp. Biol. 204, 2683–2690.
- Guglielmo, C.G., Cerasale, D.J., Eldermire, C.A., 2005. Field validation of plasma metabolite profiling to assess refueling performance of migratory birds. Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 78, 116–125.
- Guigueno, M.F., Sealy, S.G., 2012. Nest sanitation in passerine birds: implications for egg rejection in hosts of brood parasites. J. Ornithol. 153, 35–52.
- Guillemette, M., Butler, P.J., 2012. Seasonal variation in energy expenditure is not related to activity level or water temperature in a large diving bird. J. Exp. Biol. 215, 3161–3168.
- Gumus, A., Lee, S., Karlsson, K., Gabrielson, R., Winkler, D.W., Erickson, D., 2014. Real-time in vivo uric acid biosensor system for biophysical monitoring of birds. Analyst 139, 742–748.
- Hails, C.J., 1979. A comparison of flight energetics in hirundines and other birds. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 63A, 581–585.
- Halsey, L.G., Butler, P.J., Blackburn, T.M., 2006. A phylogenetic analysis of the allometry of diving. Am. Nat. 167, 276–287.
- Halsey, L.G., Fahlman, A., Handrich, Y., Schmidt, A., Woakes, A.J., Butler, P.J., 2007. How accurately can we estimate energetic costs in a marine top predator, the king penguin? Zoology 110, 81–92.
- Halsey, L.G., Green, J.A., Wilson, R.P., Frappell, P.B., 2009. Accelerometry to estimate energy expenditure during activity: best practice with data loggers. Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 82, 396–404.
- Halsey, L.G., Butler, P.J., Fahlman, A., Bost, C.A., Handrich, Y., 2010. Changes in the foraging dive behaviour and energetics of king penguins through summer and autumn: a month by month analysis. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 401, 279–289.
- Halsey, L., Shepard, E., Wilson, R., 2011a. Assessing the development and application of the accelerometry technique for estimating energy expenditure. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 158A, 305–314.
- Halsey, L.G., White, C.R., Enstipp, M.R., Wilson, R.P., Butler, P.J., Martin, G.R., Grémillet, D., Jones, D.R., 2011b. Assessing the validity of the accelerometry technique for estimating the energy expenditure of diving double-crested cormorants *Phalacrocorax auritus*. Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 84, 230–237.
- Hambly, C., Harper, E., Speakman, J., 2002. Cost of flight in the zebra finch (*Taenopygia guttata*): a novel approach based on elimination of 13C labelled bicarbonate. J. Comp. Physiol. 172B, 529–539.
- Handrich, Y., Bevan, R.M., Charrassin, J.B., Butler, P.J., Putz, K., Woakes, A.J., Lage, J., Le Maho, Y., 1997. Hypothermia in foraging king penguins. Nature 388, 64–67.
- Hansen, E.S., 2003. Ecophysiological Constraints on Energy Provisioning Rate by Seabird Parents (PhD thesis) University of Missouri, St.-Louis.
- Harris, M.P., Wanless, S., 2011. The Puffin. Bloomsbury Publishing, London.
- Hedenström, A., 2002. Aerodynamics, evolution and ecology of avian flight. Trends Ecol. Evol. 17, 415–422.
- Hedenström, A., 2012. Recent experimental data on the energy costs of avian flight do not call for a revision of optimal migration theory. Auk 129, 352–354.
- Hill, R.D., Schneider, R.C., Liggins, G.C., Schuette, A.H., Elliott, R.L., Guppy, M.I., Hochachka, P.W., Qvist, J.E., Falke, K.J., Zapol, W.M., 1987. Heart rate and body temperature during free diving of Weddell seals. Am. J. Phys. 253, R344–R351.
- Hussell, D.J.T., 1969. Weight loss of birds during nocturnal migration. Auk 86, 75–83.
- Hussell, D.J.T., Lambert, A.B., 1980. New estimates of weight loss in birds during nocturnal migration. Auk 97, 547–558.
- Jehl, J.R., 1997. Cyclical changes in body composition in the annual cycle and migration of the eared grebe Podiceps nigricollis. J. Avian Biol. 1, 132–142.
- Jodice, P.G.R., Roby, D.D., Suryan, R.M., Irons, D.B., Kaufman, A.M., Turco, K.R., Visser, G.H., 2003. Variation in energy expenditure among black-legged kittiwakes: effects of activity-specific metabolic rates and activity budgets. Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 76, 375–388.
- Jones, T.T., Hastings, M.D., Bostrom, B.L., Andrews, R.D., Jones, D.R., 2009. Validation of the use of doubly labeled water for estimating metabolic rate in the green turtle (*Chelonia mydas* L.): a word of caution. J. Exp. Biol. 212, 2635–2644.
- Kish, L.B., 2002. End of Moore's law: thermal (noise) death of integration in micro and nano electronics. Phys. Lett. A 305, 144–149.
- Kooyman, G.L., 2004. Genesis and evolution of bio-logging deices: 1963–2002. Mem. Natl. Inst. Polar Res. 58, 148–154.
- Kooyman, G.L., Ponganis, P.J., 1998. The physiological basis of diving to depth: birds and mammals. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 60, 19–32.
- Kooyman, G.L., Drabek, C.M., Elsner, R., Campbell, W.B., 1971. Diving behavior of the emperor penguin, Aptenodytes forsteri. Auk 88, 775–795.
- Kooyman, G.L., Kerem, D.H., Campbell, W.B., Wright, J.J., 1973. Pulmonary gas exchange in freely diving Weddell seals *Leptonychotes weddelli*. Respir. Physiol. 17, 283–290.
- Kooyman, G.L., Wahrenbrock, E.A., Castellini, M.A., Davis, R.W., Sinnett, E.E., 1980. Aerobic and anaerobic metabolism during voluntary diving in Weddell seals: evidence of preferred pathways from blood chemistry and behavior. J. Comp. Physiol. 138B, 335–346.
- Kramer, D.L., 1988. The behavioral ecology of air breathing by aquatic animals. Can. J. Zool. 66, 89–94.

- Landys-Ciannelli, M.M., Jukema, J., Piersma, T., 2002. Blood parameter changes during stopover in a long-distance migratory shorebird, the bar-tailed godwit *Limosa lapponica taymyrensis*. J. Avian Biol. 33, 451–455.
- Le Boeuf, B.J., Crocker, D.E., Grayson, J., Gedamke, J., Webb, P.M., Blackwell, S.B., Costa, D.P., 2000. Respiration and heart rate at the surface between dives in northern elephant seals. J. Exp. Biol. 203, 3265–3274.
- LeFebvre, E.A., 1964. The use of D₂O¹⁸ for measuring energy metabolism in *Columba livia* at rest and in flight. Auk 81, 403–416.
- Liechti, F., 2006. Birds: blowin' by the wind? J. Ornithol. 147, 202-211.
- Liechti, F., Witvliet, W., Weber, R., Bächler, E., 2013. First evidence of a 200-day non-stop flight in a bird. Nat. Commun. 4.
- Lindström, Å., Piersma, T., 1993. Mass changes in migrating birds: the evidence for fat and protein storage re-examined. Ibis 135, 70–78.Lovvorn, J.R., Grebmeier, J.M., Cooper, L.W., Bump, J.K., Richman, S.E., 2009. Modeling ma-
- Lovvorn, J.R., Grebmeier, J.M., Cooper, L.W., Bump, J.K., Richman, S.E., 2009. Modeling marine protected areas for threatened eiders in a climatically changing Bering Sea. Ecol. Appl. 19, 1596–1613.
- Lyuleeva, D.S., 1970. Energy of flight in swallows and swifts. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 190, 1467–1469.
- Marteinson, S.C., Giroux, J.F., Hélie, J.F., Gentes, M.L., Verreault, J., 2015. Field metabolic rate is dependent on time-activity budget in ring-billed gulls (*Larus delawarensis*) breeding in an anthropogenic environment. PLoS One 10, e0126964.
- McDonald, B.I., Ponganis, P.J., 2013. Insights from venous oxygen profiles: oxygen utilization and management in diving California sea lions. J. Exp. Biol. 216, 3332–3341.
- McPhee, J.M., Rosen, D.A.S., Andrews, R.D., Trites, A.W., 2003. Predicting metabolic rate from heart rate in juvenile Steller sea lions *Eumetopias jubatus*. J. Exp. Biol. 206, 1941–1951.
- McWilliams, S.R., Guglielmo, C., Pierce, B., Klaassen, M., 2004. Flying, fasting, and feeding in birds during migration: a nutritional and physiological ecology perspective. J. Avian Biol. 35, 377–393.
- Meir, J.U., Robinson, P.W., Vilchis, L.I., Kooyman, G.L., Costa, D.P., Ponganis, P.J., 2013. Blood oxygen depletion is independent of dive function in a deep diving vertebrate, the northern elephant seal. PLoS One.
- Meyers, P.M., Hatch, S.A., Mulcahy, D.M., 1998. Effect of implanted satellite transmitters on the nesting behavior of murres. Condor 98, 172–174.
- Monod, T., 1991. Bathyfolages: plongées profondes. Réédition Actes Sud, Arles (Orig. Publ. Juillard, Paris, 1954).
- Moore, G.E., 1965. Cramming more components onto integrated circuits. Electronics 38, 1–3. Nagy, K.A., Siegfried, W.R., Wilson, R.P., 1984. Energy utilization by free-ranging jackass
- penguins, Spheniscus demersus. Ecology 65, 1648–1655.Nagy, K.A., Kooyman, G.L., Ponganis, P.J., 2001. Energetic cost of foraging in free-diving emperor penguins. Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 74, 541–547.
- Niizuma, Y., Gabrielsen, G.W., Sato, K., Watanuki, Y., Naito, Y., 2007. Brünnich's guillemots (Uria lomvia) maintain high temperature in the body core during dives. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A 147, 438–444.
- Nisbet, I.C.T., Drury, W.H., Baird, J., 1963. Weight-loss during migration, part 1: deposition and consumption of fat by Blackpoll Warblers *Dendroica striata*. Bird-Banding 34, 107–138.
- Nolet, B.A., Wansink, D.E., Kruuk, H., 1993. Diving of otters (*Lutra lutra*) in a marine habitat: use of depths by a single-prey loader. J. Anim. Ecol. 62, 22–32.
- Obrecht, H.H., Pennycuick, C.J., Fuller, M.R., 1988. Wind tunnel experiments to assess the effect of back-mounted radio transmitters on bird body drag. J. Exp. Biol. 135, 265–273.
- Obst, B.S., Nagy, K.A., 1992. Field energy expenditures of the southern giant-petrel. Condor 94, 801–810.
- Obst, B.S., Nagy, K.A., Ricklefs, R.E., 1987. Energy utilization by Wilson's storm-petrel (Oceanites oceanicus). Physiol. Zool. 60, 200–210.
- Okuyama, J., Tabata, R., Nakajima, K., Arai, N., Kobayashi, M., Kagawa, S., 2014. Surfacers change their dive tactics depending on the aim of the dive: evidence from simultaneous measurements of breaths and energy expenditure. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. 281B, 20140040.
- Paredes, R., Jones, I.L., Boness, D.J., 2004. Reduced parental care, compensatory behaviour and reproductive costs of thick-billed murres equipped with data loggers. Anim. Behav. 69, 197–208.
- Pelletier, D., Guillemette, M., Grandbois, J.M., Butler, P.J., 2008. To fly or not to fly: high flight costs in a large sea duck do not imply an expensive lifestyle. Proc. R. Soc. B 275, 21117–22124.
- Pennycuick, C.J., 1975. Mechanics of flight. Avian Biol. 5, 1-75.
- Pennycuick, C.J., 1989. Bird Flight Performance. Oxford University Press.
- Pennycuick, C.J., 2008. Modelling the Flying Bird vol. 5. Elsevier.
- Peterson, S.M., Streby, H.M., Kramer, G.Ř., Lehman, J.A., Buehler, D.A., Andersen, D.E., 2015. Geolocators on golden-winged warblers do not affect migratory ecology. Condor 117, 256–261.
- Pettit, T.N., Nagy, K.A., Ellis, H.I., Whittow, G.C., 1988. Incubation energetics of the Laysan Albatross. Oecologia 74, 546–550.
- Piersma, T., Gill, R.E., 1998. Guts don't fly: small digestive organs in obese bar-tailed godwits. Auk 98, 196–203.
- Piersma, T., Gudmundsson, G.A., Lilliendahl, K., 1999. Rapid changes in the size of different functional organ and muscle groups during refueling in a long-distance migrating shorebird. Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 72, 405–415.
- Ponganis, P.J., Stočkard, T.K., Meir, J.U., Williams, C.L., Ponganis, K.V., Howard, R., 2009. O2 store management in diving emperor penguins. J. Exp. Biol. 212, 217–224.
- Portugal, S.J., Guillemette, M., 2011. The use of body mass loss to estimate metabolic rate in birds. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 158A, 329–336.
- Portugal, S.J., Green, J.A., Cassey, P., Frappell, P.B., Butler, P.J., 2009. Predicting the rate of oxygen consumption from heart rate in barnacle geese *Branta leucopsis*: effects of captivity and annual changes in body condition. J. Exp. Biol. 212, 2941–2948.

- Portugal, S.J., Hubel, T.Y., Fritz, J., Heese, S., Trobe, D., Voelkl, B., Hailes, S., Wilson, A.M., Usherwood, J.R., 2014. Upwash exploitation and downwash avoidance by flap phasing in ibis formation flight. Nature 505, 399–402.
- Qasem, L., Cardew, A., Wilson, A., Griffiths, I., Halsey, L.G., Shepard, E.L., Gleiss, A.C., Wilson, R., 2012. Tri-axial dynamic acceleration as a proxy for animal energy expenditure; should we be summing values or calculating the vector. PLoS One 7, e31187.
- Ramirez, J.M., Folkow, L.P., Blix, A.S., 2007. Hypoxia tolerance in mammals and birds: from the wilderness to the clinic. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 69, 113–143.
- Rayner, J.M., 1999. Estimating power curves of flying vertebrates. J. Exp. Biol. 202, 3449–3461.
- Ropert-Coudert, Y., Wilson, R.P., 2005. Trends and perspectives in animal-attached remote sensing. Front. Ecol. Environ. 3, 437–444.
- Ropert-Coudert, Y., Wilson, R.P., Yoda, K., Kato, A., 2007. Assessing performance constraints in penguins with externally-attached devices. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 333, 281–289.
- Salin, K., Auer, S.K., Rey, B., Selman, C., Metcalfe, N.B., 2015. Variation in the link between oxygen consumption and ATP production, and its relevance for animal performance. Proc. R. Soc. B 282, 20151028.
- Sapir, N., Wikelski, M., McCue, M.D., Pinshow, B., Nathan, R., 2010. Flight modes in migrating European bee-eaters: heart rate may indicate low metabolic rate during soaring and gliding. PLoS One 5, e13956.
- Schmidt-Nielsen, K., 1972. Energy costs of swimming, flying, and running. Science 177, 222–228.
- Schorr, G.S., Falcone, E.A., Moretti, D.J., Andrews, R.D., 2014. First long-term behavioral records from Cuvier's beaked whales (*Ziphius cavirostris*) reveal record-breaking dives. PLoS One 9, e92633.
- Schultner, J., Welcker, J., Speakman, J.R., Nordøy, E.S., Gabrielsen, G.W., 2010. Application of the two-sample doubly labelled water method alters behaviour and affects estimates of energy expenditure in black-legged kittiwakes. J. Exp. Biol. 213, 2958–2966.
- Seewagen, C.L., Guglielmo, C.G., 2011. Quantitative magnetic resonance analysis and a morphometric predictive model reveal lean body mass changes in migrating Nearctic–Neotropical passerines. J. Comp. Physiol. B. 181B, 413–421.
- Shaffer, S.A., Costa, D.P., Weimerskirch, H., 2004. Field metabolic rates of black-browed albatrosses *Thalassarche melanophrys* during the incubation stage. J. Avian Biol. 35, 551–558.
- Shaffer, S.A., 2011. A review of seabird energetics using the doubly labeled water method. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A 158, 315–322.
- Southwood, A.L., Reina, R.D., Jones, V.S., Speakman, J.R., Jones, D.R., 2006. Seasonal metabolism of juvenile green turtles (*Chelonia mydas*) at Heron Island, Australia. Can. J. Zool. 84, 125–135.
- Speakman, J.R., 1991. Why do insectivorous bats in Britain not fly in daylight more frequently? Funct. Ecol. 5, 518–524.
- Speakman, J.R., 1993. Flight capabilities of Archaeopteryx. Evolution 47, 336-340.
- Speakman, J.R., 1997. Doubly-labelled Water. Chapman & Hall.
- Speakman, J.R., Hambly, C., 2016. Using doubly-labelled water to measure free-living energy expenditure: some old things to remember and some new things to consider. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A 202, 3–9.
- Spivey, R.J., Bishop, C.M., 2013. Interpretation of body-mounted accelerometry in flying animals and estimation of biomechanical power. J. R. Soc. Interface 10, 20130404.
- Stanley, T.R., 2002. How many kilojoules does a black-billed magpie nest cost? J. Field Ornithol. 73, 292–297.
- Steiger, S.S., Kelley, J.P., Cochran, W.W., Wikelski, M., 2009. Low metabolism and inactive lifestyle of a tropical rain forest bird investigated via heart rate telemetry. Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 82, 580–589.
- Stothart, M., Wood, T., Hatch, S.A., Speakman, J.R., Elliott, K.H., 2016. Counting calories in cormorants: daily energy expenditure correlates with acceleration. J. Exp. Biol. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1242/jeb.130526 (in press).
- Tobalske, B.W., Hedrick, T.L., Dial, K.P., Warrick, D.R., 2003. Comparative power curves in bird flight. Nature 421, 363–366.
- Tremblay, Y., Bertrand, S., Henry, R.W., Kappes, M.A., Costa, D.P., Shaffer, S.A., 2009. Analytical approaches to investigating seabird–environment interactions: a review. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 391, 153–163.
- Trullas, S.C., Spotila, J.R., Paladino, F.V., 2006. Energetics during hatchling dispersal of the olive ridley turtle *Lepidochelys olivacea* using doubly labeled water. Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 79, 389–399.
- Utter, J.M., LeFebvre, E.A., 1970. Energy expenditure for free flight by the purple martin (*Progne subis*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 35, 713–719.
- Vandenabeele, S.P., Shepard, E.L., Grogan, A., Wilson, R.P., 2012. When three per cent may not be three per cent; device-equipped seabirds experience variable flight constraints. Mar. Biol. 159, 1–4.
- Vandenabeele, S.P., Grundy, E., Friswell, M.I., Grogan, A., Votier, S.C., Wilson, R.P., 2014. Excess baggage for birds: inappropriate placement of tags on Gannets changes flight patterns. PLoS One 9, e92657.
- Videler, J.J., 2006. Avian Flight. Oxford University Press.
- Voigt, C.C., Holderied, M.W., 2012. High manoeuvring costs force narrow-winged molossid bats to forage in open space. J. Comp. Physiol. 182B, 415–424.
- Voigt, C.C., Lewanzik, D., 2011. Trapped in the darkness of the night: thermal and energetic constraints of daylight flight in bats. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B 278, 2311–2317.
- Waldrop, M.M., 2016. The chips are down for Moore's law. Nature 530, 144-147.
- Wallace, B.P., Williams, C.L., Paladino, F.V., Morreale, S.J., Lindstrom, R.T., Spotila, J.R., 2005. Bioenergetics and diving activity of internesting leatherback turtles *Dermochelys coriacea* at Parque Nacional Marino Las Baulas, Costa Rica. J. Exp. Biol. 208, 3873–3884.
- Ward, S., Möller, U., Rayner, J.M.V., Jackson, D.M., Nachtigall, W., Speakman, J.R., 2004. Metabolic power of European starlings Sturnus vulgaris during flight in a wind tunnel,

estimated from heat transfer modelling, doubly labelled water and mask respirometry. J. Exp. Biol. 207, 4291–4298.

- Watanuki, Y., Daunt, F., Takahashi, A., Newell, M., Wanless, S., Sato, K., Miyazaki, N., 2008. Microhabitat use and prey capture of a bottom-feeding top predator, the European shag, shown by camera loggers. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 356, 283–293.
- Webb, P.M., Andrews, R.D., Costa, D.P., Le Boeuf, B.J., 1998. Heart rate and oxygen consumption of northern elephant seals during diving in the laboratory. Physiol. Zool. 71, 116–125.
- Weimerskirch, H., Martin, J., Clerquin, Y., Alexandre, P., Jiraskova, S., 2001. Energy saving in flight formation. Nature 413, 697–698.
- White, C.R., Grémillet, D., Green, J.A., Martin, G.R., Butler, P.J., 2011. Metabolic rate throughout the annual cycle reveals the demands of an Arctic existence in great cormorants. Ecology 92, 475–486.
- White, C.R., Cassey, P., Schimpf, N.G., Halsey, L.G., Green, J.A., Portugal, S.J., 2013. Implantation reduces the negative effects of bio-logging devices on birds. J. Exp. Biol. 216, 537–542.
- Wikelski, M., Tarlow, E.M., Raim, A., Diehl, R.H., Larkin, R.P., Visser, G.H., 2003. Costs of migration in free-flying songbirds. Nature 423, 704.
- Williams, T.M., Fuiman, L.A., Horning, M., Davis, R.W., 2004. The cost of foraging by a marine predator, the Weddell seal *Leptonychotes weddellii*: pricing by the stroke. J. Exp. Biol. 207, 973–982.
- Williams, T.M., Wolfe, L., Davis, T., Kendall, T., Richter, B., Wang, Y., Bryce, C., Elkaim, G.H., Wilmers, C.C., 2014. Instantaneous energetics of puma kills reveal advantage of felid sneak attacks. Science 346, 81–85.
- Wilson, R.P., Culik, B.M., 1993. Activity-specific metabolic rates from double labeled water studies: are activity costs underestimated? Ecology 73, 1285–1287.

- Wilson, R.P., Grant, W.S., Duffy, D.C., 1986. Recording devices on free-ranging marine animals: does measurement affect foraging performance? Ecology 66, 1091–1093.
- Wilson, R., Steinfurth, A., Ropert-Coudert, Y., Kato, A., Kurita, M., 2002. Lip-reading in remote subjects: an attempt to quantify and separate ingestion, breathing and vocalisation in free-living animals using penguins as a model. Mar. Biol. 140, 17–27.
 Wilson, R.P., Simeone, A., Luna-Jorquera, G., Steinfurth, A., Jackson, S., Fahlman, A., 2003.
- Wilson, R.P., Simeone, A., Luna-Jorquera, G., Steinfurth, A., Jackson, S., Fahlman, A., 2003. Patterns of respiration in diving penguins: is the last gasp an inspired tactic? J. Exp. Biol. 206, 1751–1763.
- Wilson, R.P., White, C.R., Quintana, F., Halsey, L.G., Liebsch, N., Martin, G.R., Butler, P.J., 2006. Moving towards acceleration for estimates of activity-specific metabolic rate in free-living animals: the case of the cormorant. J. Anim. Ecol. 75, 1081–1090.
- Wilson, J.W., Mills, M.G., Wilson, R.P., Peters, G., Mills, M.E., Speakman, J.R., Durant, S.M., Bennett, N.C., Marks, N.J., Scantlebury, M., 2013. Cheetahs, *Acinonyx jubatus*, balance turn capacity with pace when chasing prey. Biol. Lett. 9, 20130620.
- Wilson, A.D., Wikelski, M., Wilson, R.P., Cooke, S.J., 2015. Utility of biological sensor tags in animal conservation. Conserv. Biol. 29, 1065–1075.
- Winter, Y., Von Helversen, O., 1998. The energy cost of flight: do small bats fly more cheaply than birds? J. Comp. Physiol. 168B, 105–111.
- Woakes, A.J., Butler, P.J., 1983. Swimming and diving in tufted ducks, *Aythya fuligula*, with particular reference to heart rate and gas exchange. J. Exp. Biol. 107, 311–329.
- Yamamoto, S., McLean, J.A., Downie, A.J., 1979. Estimation of heat production from heartrate measurements in cattle. Br. J. Nutr. 42, 507–513.
- Yeates, LC., Williams, T.M., Fink, T.L., 2007. Diving and foraging energetics of the smallest marine mammal, the sea otter (*Enhydra lutris*). J. Exp. Biol. 210, 1960–1970.